Progress in Retinal and Eye Research 31 (2012) 195-212

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect



Ettina and ret secance

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/prer

Progress in Retinal and Eye Research

X-linked juvenile retinoschisis: Clinical diagnosis, genetic analysis, and molecular mechanisms

Robert S. Molday^{a,*,1}, Ulrich Kellner^{b,1}, Bernhard H.F. Weber^{c,1}

^a Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Centre of Macular Research, University of British Columbia, 2350 Health Sciences Mall, Vancouver, B.C. V6T 1Z3, Canada ^b Center of Rare Retinal Disease, AugenZentrum Siegburg, MVZ ADTC Siegburg GmbH, Europaplatz 3, D-53721 Siegburg, Germany ^c University of Regensburg, Institute of Human Genetics, Franz-Josef-Strauss-Allee 11, D-97053 Regensburg, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Available online 3 January 2012

Keywords: X-linked retinoschisis Molecular genetics Retinoschisin Disease mechanisms Clinical diagnosis Gene therapy

ABSTRACT

X-linked juvenile retinoschisis (XLRS, MIM 312700) is a common early onset macular degeneration in males characterized by mild to severe loss in visual acuity, splitting of retinal layers, and a reduction in the b-wave of the electroretinogram (ERG). The RS1 gene (MIM 300839) associated with the disease encodes retinoschisin, a 224 amino acid protein containing a discoidin domain as the major structural unit, an N-terminal cleavable signal sequence, and regions responsible for subunit oligomerization. Retinoschisin is secreted from retinal cells as a disulphide-linked homo-octameric complex which binds to the surface of photoreceptors and bipolar cells to help maintain the integrity of the retina. Over 190 disease-causing mutations in the RS1 gene are known with most mutations occurring as non-synonymous changes in the discoidin domain. Cell expression studies have shown that diseaseassociated missense mutations in the discoidin domain cause severe protein misfolding and retention in the endoplasmic reticulum, mutations in the signal sequence result in aberrant protein synthesis, and mutations in regions flanking the discoidin domain cause defective disulphide-linked subunit assembly, all of which produce a non-functional protein. Knockout mice deficient in retinoschisin have been generated and shown to display most of the characteristic features found in XLRS patients. Recombinant adeno-associated virus (rAAV) mediated delivery of the normal RS1 gene to the retina of young knockout mice result in long-term retinoschisin expression and rescue of retinal structure and function providing a 'proof of concept' that gene therapy may be an effective treatment for XLRS.

© 2012 Elsevier Ltd. Open access under CC BY-NC-ND license.

Contents

Intro	duction	196
Clini	cal findings of congenital XLRS	196
2.1.	Clinical manifestations	. 196
2.2.	Clinical diagnosis	. 197
2.3.	Findings in carriers	. 198
2.4.	Complications	. 198
2.5.	Differential diagnosis	. 198
2.6.	Treatment options	. 198
Gene	tics of XLRS	198
3.1.	Gene identification and gene structure	. 198
3.2.	RS1 expression and its regulation	. 199
3.3.	Spectrum of RS1-associated mutations	. 199
Mou	se models for X-linked juvenile retinoschisis	. 200
Struc	tural features of retinoschisin	. 200
5.1.	Discoidin (DS) domain	.200
5.2.	Rs1 domain and the C-terminal segment	. 202
	Intro Clini 2.1. 2.2. 2.3. 2.4. 2.5. 2.6. Gene 3.1. 3.2. 3.3. Mou Struc 5.1. 5.2.	Introduction Clinical findings of congenital XLRS 2.1. Clinical manifestations 2.2. Clinical diagnosis 2.3. Findings in carriers 2.4. Complications 2.5. Differential diagnosis 2.6. Treatment options Genetics of XLRS

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 604 822 6173; fax: +1 604 822 5227.

E-mail address: molday@mail.ubc.ca (R.S. Molday).

¹ Percentage of work contributed by each author in the production of the manuscript: Robert S. Molday: 50%; Ulrich Kellner 25%; Bernhard H. Weber 25%.

^{1350-9462 © 2012} Elsevier Ltd. Open access under CC BY-NC-ND license. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2011.12.002

	5.3. Leader or signal sequence	
	5.4. Oligomeric structure of retinoschisin	
6.	Binding of retinoschisin to photoreceptor and bipolar cell surfaces	
	6.1. Na/K ATPase-SARM1 complex	
	6.2. Phosphatidylserine (PS)	
	6.3. L-type voltage-gated calcium channels	
7.	Possible function of retinoschisin in the retina	
8.	Molecular and cellular mechanisms underlying XLRS	
	8.1. Mutations in the DS domain cause protein misfolding and retention in the ER	
	8.2. Cysteine mutations in Rs1/C-terminal regions cause defective oligomerization	
	8.3. Mutations in the signal sequence cause abnormal protein synthesis and localization	
	8.4. Other pathogenic mechanisms	
9.	Gene therapy in mouse models of XLRS	
10.	Conclusions and future directions	
	Acknowledgments	
	References	

1. Introduction

X-linked juvenile retinoschisis (XLRS, MIM 312700) is a relatively common early onset retinal degenerative disease that affects males early in life. Characteristic features include mild to severe loss in central vision, radial streaks arising from foveal schisis, splitting of inner retinal layers in the peripheral retina, and a negative electroretinogram (ERG) arising from a marked reduction in b-wave amplitude (George et al., 1995; Tantri et al., 2004). Disease progression and severity is highly variable even within families. During the course of the disease, secondary complications including retinal detachment and vitreous hemorrhage can occur leading to a poor outcome. Female carriers are asymptomatic although detailed clinical examination can reveal minor retinal abnormalities (Kim et al., 2007).

XLRS was first thought to arise as a result of inherited defects in Müller cells. This was based on the b-wave response which was originally thought to directly involve Müller cells and histological examination of retina tissue from deceased patients showing filamentous material merging with Müller cell membrane and splitting of the nerve fiber layer (Condon et al., 1986; Gass, 1999; Miller and Dowling, 1970; Yanoff et al., 1968). Identification of the gene responsible for XLRS in 1997 by Sauer et al. (1997) and the subsequent analysis of gene and protein expression in the retina, however, have directly implicated photoreceptors and bipolar cells, and not Müller cells, in the disease process (Grayson et al., 2000; Molday et al., 2001; Mooy et al., 2002; Reid et al., 1999). The RS1 gene encodes a 24 kDa discoidin-domain containing protein which is secreted as a homo-oligomeric complex (Sauer et al., 1997; Wu et al., 2005). This complex binds tightly to the surface of photoreceptors and bipolar cells where it helps to maintain the cellular organization of the retina and structure of the photoreceptor-bipolar synapse.

Over the past 15 years significant progress has been made in understanding XLRS at a clinical, genetic, molecular, and cellular level. To date 191 different mutations in the *RS1* gene are known to cause XLRS. Protein expression studies have provided insight into the mechanisms by which specific mutations affect the expression, structure and secretion of retinoschisin and lead to a pathogenic state. Mice deficient in retinoschisin have been developed and used to obtain insight into the role of retinoschisin in retina structure, function and pathology. Finally, the delivery of the normal *RS1* gene to knockout mice deficient in endogenous retinoschisin has resulted in significant restoration of retinal structure and function. In this chapter, we review our current knowledge of retinoschisin and its role in XLRS pathology from a clinical, genetic and molecular perspective.

2. Clinical findings of congenital XLRS

2.1. Clinical manifestations

XLRS was first described in 1898 in two affected brothers by the Austrian ophthalmologist Josef Haas (Haas, 1898). Since then, XLRS has been shown to be one of the more frequent inherited retinal disorders affecting macular function in males with an estimated prevalence ranging between 1:5000 to 1:20,000 (George et al., 1995). The name derives from an internal splitting of the retina mostly affecting the temporal periphery of the fundus. This peripheral retinoschisis occurs in less than 50% of affected individuals, whereas foveal involvement is present in all affected patients. Foveal involvement is usually associated with moderate visual loss. Therefore, XLRS is frequently diagnosed prior to school age suggesting a juvenile onset. Several cases of severe retinoschisis have been described in the first year of age suggesting that XLRS indeed is present at birth (Lee et al., 2009; Prasad et al., 2006; Renner et al., 2008; Sieving, 1998). These severe cases as well as the absence of acute visual loss in the majority of cases indicates that the onset of XLRS is congenital, but the diagnosis is delayed because small infants are not affected in their daily tasks by moderate visual loss.

Multiple studies reporting clinical features of XLRS in a series of families have been reported world-wide (Apushkin et al., 2005b; Atchaneeyasakul et al., 2010; Eksandh et al., 2000; Forsius et al., 1963; George et al., 1995, 1996; Hewitt et al., 2005; Kellner et al., 1990; Lesch et al., 2008; Pimenides et al., 2005; Renner et al., 2008; Riveiro-Alvarez et al., 2009; Shinoda et al., 2000; Shukla et al., 2007; Simonelli et al., 2003; Vainio-Mattila et al., 1969; Xu et al., 2011). The penetrance of XLRS is almost complete but clinical expression is highly variable (Sieving, 1998). In our series of 100 XLRS patients the manifestations ranged from almost complete retinoschisis at the age of 3 months in both eyes to normal visual acuity with mild pigmentary macular abnormalities and a negative full-field electroretinogram (ERG) (Kellner et al., 1990; Renner et al., 2008). The expression of the disease is usually symmetrical in both eyes, however, a marked asymmetry of visual function can be present especially in cases where additional complications occur (Tantri et al., 2004). Visual acuity is reduced to 20/100 in most patients although it may vary greatly. On ophthalmoscopy, foveal retinoschisis presents as a spoke-wheel pattern and peripheral retinoschisis as a sharply delineated detachment of the inner retinal sheet usually limited to the periphery or mid-periphery (Fig. 1). Peripheral retinoschisis may extend from the periphery to the macula including the fovea in some cases; in rare instances marked retinoschisis might involve nearly the complete retina. If the inner



Fig. 1. Retina imaging of individuals with XLRS. (a) Severe retinoschisis involving almost the complete retina observed in a boy 3 months of age carrying a *RS1*-gene p.R213W mutation. (b) Fundus autofluorescence indicating a spoke-wheel pattern due to overlying foveal retinoschisis in a 12 year old boy carrying a *RS1*-gene p.R102W mutation. (c) Near-infrared image of foveal retinoschisis in a 21 year old patient carrying a *RS1*-gene p.D126_L127delinsE mutation. (d) Spectral domain optical coherence tomography in a 22 year old male carrying a *RS1*-gene p.W96G mutation. The upper scan shows marked retinoschisis in different retinal layers. The lower scan after 3 months of local application of dorzolamide shows a smaller foveal retinoschisis cavity and absence of perifoveal retinoschisis cavities. (e) Color image of peripheral retinoschisis in the lower temporal quadrant of the right eye in a 20 year old male carrying a *RS1*-gene p.R209H mutation.

sheet of the schisis degenerates, the retinal vessels may remain running free through the vitreous cavity presenting as so-called vitreous veils. If additional breaks occur in the outer sheet of the schisis, a retinal detachment may occur.

In the majority of patients, the disease either shows no or minimal progression (Apushkin et al., 2005b; Kellner et al., 1990; Kjellstrom et al., 2010; Roesch et al., 1998). Around the age of 30 years, the macular alterations may change from the characteristic spoke-wheel pattern to unspecific mild retinal pigment abnormalities. In some cases, severe visual loss with increased age has been described (George et al., 1996) although incidence data are not available due to the lack of extended long-term follow-up studies.

2.2. Clinical diagnosis

Young boys are often presented for evaluation of bilaterally reduced visual acuity without acute visual loss. Sudden visual loss rarely occurs and is often associated with complications like vitreous hemorrhage or retinal detachment (Lee et al., 2009; Prasad et al., 2006). Hyperopia is a frequent finding.

The hallmark of XLRS is the presence of a spoke-wheel pattern in the macula on high magnification ophthalmoscopy in patients younger than 30 years of age (Fig. 1b and c). The spoke-wheel pattern varies in severity and might be difficult to detect or exclude especially in young boys with limited cooperation even by experienced clinicians (Kellner et al., 1990; Sieving, 1998). In patients older than 30 years the foveal retinoschisis is replaced by unspecific mild retinal abnormalities. Peripheral retinoschisis, mostly in the lower temporal quadrant, is an important diagnostic sign but is present in less than 50% of affected patients (Fig. 1e). Additional phenomena, e.g. the Mizou phenomenon or white flecks, have been observed in few cases of XLRS (Hotta et al., 2001; Vincent et al., 2009).

Optic coherence tomography (OCT) has changed the diagnostic approach for XLRS (Apushkin et al., 2005a; Chan et al., 2004;

Muscat et al., 2001; Prenner et al., 2006; Renner et al., 2008; Stanga et al., 2001; Urrets-Zavalia et al., 2007) and nowadays spectral domain OCT (SD-OCT) is the major diagnostic technique for this disease (Fig. 1d). Even in an uncooperative child a single scan of the foveal area is sufficient to detect signs of XLRS and to distinguish XLRS from other differential diagnosis associated with visual loss in young boys (Dhingra and Patel, 2010; Eriksson et al., 2004; Renner et al., 2008). SD-OCT revealed that the area of retinoschisis markedly extends beyond the ophthalmoscopically visible spokewheel pattern and includes the macular area up to the vascular arcades (Gerth et al., 2008; Gregori et al., 2009; Yu et al., 2010). This novel imaging tool is also important for follow-up examinations and has resolved the long-standing histologic debate in which retinal layer the retinal splitting occurs (Condon et al., 1986; Manschot, 1972; Yanoff et al., 1968). Indeed, cystoid changes may involve various retinal layers from the retinal nerve fiber layer to the nuclear layer (Gerth et al., 2008; Gregori et al., 2009; Yu et al., 2010). Thinning of the retinal nerve fiber layer has been reported in a series of XLRS patients (Genead et al., 2010). In older patients SD-OCT might show absence of retinoschisis, retinal thinning and epiretinal membranes that increases the difficulty to differentiate from other forms of macular dystrophy (Menke et al., 2011).

Fundus autofluorescence (FAF) is frequently used for the differential diagnosis of retinal dystrophies. XLRS alterations of the foveal FAF are most likely due to the altered light transmission in the area of retinoschisis and are a characteristic sign (Fig. 1b), although the diagnosis should be validated by SD-OCT (Renner et al., 2008). Fluorescein angiography may reveal retinal pigment epithelial alterations in older males; but does not contribute to the differential diagnosis of XLRS.

For several decades the ERG was the major diagnostic technique for XLRS. The characteristic ERG sign is a so-called 'negative' ERG elicited by a bright flash of light in the dark-adapted retina in which the a-wave is larger than the b-wave in contrast to the normal findings. Usually, the light adapted responses show an amplitude reduction as well. The origin of the retinal dysfunction is an abnormality in the ON- and OFF-pathways on the level of the bipolar cells (Khan et al., 2001). Detailed evaluation of macular dysfunction with the multifocal electroretinogram (mfERG) has demonstrated a widespread cone dysfunction as well (Piao et al., 2003; Sen et al., 2010). A 'negative' ERG can be associated with various retinal disorders (Koh et al., 2001; Renner et al., 2006); however, in young males the only major differential diagnosis is congenital stationary night blindness (CSNB) (Bradshaw et al., 2004). The easier and much faster application of SD-OCT compared to ERG has diminished the diagnostic role of the ERG for XLRS. In addition, earlier reports on ERG in XLRS were limited to patients with clinically manifest XLRS. Recent studies selectively including patients carrying RS1 mutations have shown that the ERG response is more variable than previously expected (Eksandh et al., 2005; Renner et al., 2008; Sieving et al., 1999). Most patients present with an a-wave relatively larger than the b-wave, resulting in a reduced b/a-ratio, however, a 'negative' ERG with a b-wave smaller than the a-wave is present only in about 50% of the patients and a relative normal ERG does not exclude the diagnosis of XLRS. Nevertheless, an ERG is valuable for differential diagnosis in unexplained visual loss especially in older patients (Koh et al., 2001; Renner et al., 2006; Sobaci et al., 2007).

Other tests of retinal function, e.g. electro-oculography, color vision or visual fields, are of limited diagnostic value. Color vision is variably abnormal due to affection of the macula and absolute scotoma which is present in the area of peripheral retinoschisis.

2.3. Findings in carriers

In contrast to other X-linked inherited retinal dystrophies, e.g. retinitis pigmentosa or choroideremia, female carriers usually have normal retinal function and rarely present with retinal abnormalities. Only 2/9 obligate carriers of XLRS had functional abnormalities in the mfERG (Kim et al., 2007). Female carriers have rarely been reported with retinal abnormalities or visual loss (Gieser and Falls, 1961; Mendoza-Londono et al., 1999; Rodriguez et al., 2005; Saldana et al., 2007; Wu et al., 1985). Retinal alterations and ERG abnormalities were variable. Six affected woman were in fact homozygous carriers of disease mutations (Ali et al., 2003; Forsius et al., 1963; Saleheen et al., 2008).

2.4. Complications

Vitreous hemorrhages or retinal detachment complicate the clinical course of XLRS in approximately 5% of all affected males and most frequently develop in the first decade of life. Vitreous hemorrhage mostly clears spontaneously and only rarely requires vitreous surgery to avoid amblyopia. Results of retinal detachment surgery are of limited benefit even with advanced surgical techniques (Rosenfeld et al., 1998). Macular holes secondary to XLRS have rarely been reported (Brasil et al., 2011; Shukla et al., 2006).

2.5. Differential diagnosis

In patients with marked peripheral retinoschisis, disorders with early onset retinal detachments have to be considered in differential diagnosis. These include X-linked Norrie syndrome (NS), in which complete retinal detachment is present at birth and visual function is nearly absent. NS is associated with mutations in the Norrie disease gene on Xp11.4 (Berger et al., 1992; Chen et al., 1992). A less severe variant of NS is the X-linked familial exudative vitreoretinopathy (FEVR), also associated with mutations in the Norrie disease gene. Peripheral vascular retinal abnormalities are present in a variable degree, which may lead to retinal detachment. Similar alterations can be observed in autosomal dominant FEVR (Criswick-Schepens syndrome) and can be associated with mutations in frizzled-4 (FZD4) (Robitaille et al., 2002), *LRP5* (Toomes et al., 2004), and *TSPAN12* (Nikopoulos et al., 2010). The ophthalmoscopic features in both forms of FEVR are distinct from XLRS. Incontinentia pigmentii (Bloch-Sulzberger syndrome) can present with early onset retinal detachment. This syndrome, however, is a lethal condition in males and is not a differential diagnosis for XLRS. Other forms of congenital or juvenile retinal detachment, e.g. following trauma or retinopathy of prematurity, can usually be excluded by the patient's history.

In XLRS patients with involvement limited to the fovea other forms of foveal retinoschisis or early onset macular dysfunction have to be differentiated. Foveal retinoschisis has rarely been reported as an apparent autosomal recessive trait in families with predominantly affected females (Chen et al., 2006; Cibis, 1965; Lewis et al., 1977; Perez Alvarez and Clement Fernandez, 2002). A male patient with features of XLRS but without a RS1-mutation has been reported (Hayashi et al., 2004). In Enhanced S-Cone Syndrome (alias Goldmann-Favre syndrome), which is associated with mutations in the NR2E3 gene on 15q23 (Haider et al., 2000), a foveal retinoschisis may be present. The ERG is quite different from the one typical for XLRS and allows one to distinguish the two disorders (Sohn et al., 2010). Rare syndromes may present with foveal retinoschisis, they can be differentiated by presence of other syndrome associated pathologies (Ayala-Ramirez et al., 2006; Phadke et al., 2011). The SD-OCT serves to differentiate other causes of early onset macular dysfunction, e.g. CSNB, cone dysfunction or macular dystrophies.

2.6. Treatment options

In most cases, treatment of XLRS is limited to the prescription of low-vision aids. Recently, a marked reduction of retinoschisis at the posterior pole was reported following local application of 2% dorzolamide (Apushkin and Fishman, 2006; Genead et al., 2010; Ghajarnia and Gorin, 2007). In about half of the eyes this treatment is associated with improvement of visual acuity. Not all patients show a response to this treatment and in some a response is only seen after several months of application. The response to treatment is independent of the genotype (Khandhadia et al., 2011; Walia et al., 2009). When the retinoschisis worsened under therapy, discontinuation and later retreatment might be beneficial (Thobani and Fishman, 2010). The value of long-term treatment over many years still has to be established. At present a treatment trial with dorzolamide is recommended and should be monitored with visual acuity and SD-OCT. Long-term application should be based on the response to treatment in the individual patient.

Pars-plana vitrectomy is indicated in vitreous hemorrhage without spontaneous resolution to avoid amblyopia or when retinal detachment occurs (Ferrone et al., 1997; Wu et al., 2007). Although in a few patients vitreoretinal surgery has been performed to release vitreoretinal traction (Ikeda et al., 2008; Trese and Ferrone, 1995), in general prophylactic treatment of retinoschisis either by laser or vitreoretinal surgery cannot be recommended due to possible severe long-term complications including retinal detachment (Kellner et al., 1990; Sobrin et al., 2003).

3. Genetics of XLRS

3.1. Gene identification and gene structure

Following the first tentative assignment of the *RS1* gene to Xg blood group markers on the short arm of the human X-chromosome (Wieacker et al., 1983), a refined mapping of the disease locus was gradually achieved to an approximately 1000 kb interval on

Xp22.13 flanked by DNA markers DXS418 and DXS999 (Alitalo et al., 1987; Gal et al., 1985; Huopaniemi et al., 1997; Van de Vosse et al., 1996; Warneke-Wittstock et al., 1998). Within this interval, the *RS1* gene was finally identified by positional cloning based on retinaspecific expression of the transcript and segregation analysis of functional DNA variants with the disease in several large multigeneration XLRS pedigrees (Sauer et al., 1997).

The *RS1* gene spans 32.4 kb of genomic DNA and is organized in six exons and five intervening regions. The 3.1 kb mRNA translates into a precursor protein of 224-amino-acids, termed retinoschisin. It consists of a 23-amino-acid N-terminal signature characteristic for cellular proteins processed through the secretory pathway (Sauer et al., 1997; Wu and Molday, 2003) and a discoidin homology domain, first described in discoidin I from the slime mold *Dic-tyostelium discoideum* and since found in many extracellular and membrane proteins (Poole et al., 1981).

3.2. RS1 expression and its regulation

Across mammalian species, *RS1* mRNA and protein expression is specifically found in the retina (Gehrig et al., 1999b; Molday et al., 2001; Reid et al., 1999; Sauer et al., 1997) and pineal gland (Takada et al., 2006), with both organs of a common neuroectodermal origin. In the retina, prominent immunolabeling of retinoschisin is consistently observed at the extracellular surfaces of the inner segments of rod and cone photoreceptors, most bipolar cells as well as the two plexiform layers (Fig. 2) (Grayson et al., 2000; Molday et al., 2001; Reid et al., 2003; Takada et al., 2004). In the pineal gland, *RS1* expression is confined to pinealocytes and absent from pineal glia (Takada et al., 2006), the latter finding consistent with the findings in the retina, where retinoschisin is also absent from homologous Müller glial cells (Grayson et al., 2000; Molday et al., 2001; Takada et al., 2004).

In postnatal eye development of the mouse, measurable *RS1* mRNA expression resumes around P1 reaching adulthood levels between P5 and P7 which is then maintained throughout adulthood (Weber and Kellner, 2007). Comparably, the developing rat retina reveals weak retinoschisin immuno-labeling at P6 within the neuroblastic zone while the staining intensity of the outer retina increases over time with intense staining of the newly formed inner segment layer at P10 (Molday et al., 2001). Adult pattern labeling in the rat is reached around P12. These findings suggest that across mammalian species the sustained expression of retinoschisin is

required in adulthood and is likely essential for maintenance of retinal integrity (Weber et al., 2002).

First insight into *RS1* gene regulation was gained from mice deficient for cone-rod homeobox (CRX) (Livesey et al., 2000) and neural retina leucine zipper protein (NRL) (Mears et al., 2001), emphasizing a critical role of these transcription factors for retinal expression. Another component of a complex regulatory network of *RS1* expression in the retina is the orphan nuclear receptor NR2E3 (Blackshaw et al., 2001; Corbo et al., 2007; Hsiau et al., 2007; Livesey et al., 2000; Yoshida et al., 2004). While CRX is a nuclear protein essential for general photoreceptor maturation for both rods and cones (Chen et al., 1997; Furukawa et al., 1999), NRL and NR2E3 have specific roles in rod photoreceptor maturation and suppression of cone proliferation (Cheng et al., 2004; Haider et al., 2001; Mears et al., 2001).

A core proximal promoter encompassing nucleotides -177 to +32 was shown to be sufficient to drive basal *RS1* gene activity in the retina with two evolutionarily conserved CRX binding sites, CRE1 (-26/-23) and CRE3 (-58/-55), stimulating *RS1* transcription (Langmann et al., 2008). In human, an upstream CpG island was found to exert strong cis-acting effects on *RS1* expression in vitro and in vivo (Kraus et al., 2011). A second CRX-bound region strongly conserved between human and mouse was identified in the first intron of *RS1* with multiple CRX sites and likely modulates basal promoter activity (Kraus et al., 2011).

3.3. Spectrum of RS1-associated mutations

To date, a total of 191 unique variants have been reported in the *RS1* gene to be associated with the XLRS phenotype (Leiden Open Variation Database, LOVD version 2.0, Build 31; http://grenada. lumc.nl/LOVD2/eye/home.php?select_db=RS1). Of these, 155 (81%) are nucleotide substitutions resulting in amino acid changes, alterations of splice site sequences or activation of cryptic splice sites. In addition, there are 25 (13%) deletions, 5 (3%) duplications, 3 (1.5%) insertions and 3 (1.5%) insertion/deletions. Judging by the nature of the unique variants, about 40% are expected to represent true null alleles (i.e. nonsense mutations or frameshift mutations) and thus should not produce a functional retinoschisin protein.

The most prominent class of unique variants constitute the missense mutations (100 of 191 unique variants). This type of mutation affects all regions of the protein although a significant clustering is observed within the discoid domain (85 of 191). The



Fig. 2. Light micrographs of an adult mouse retina immunolabeled for retinoschisin. Left: Differential interference contrast (DIC) image of a mouse retina stained with DAPI to show the nuclear layers. Right: Immunofluorescence image of the same section showing retinoschisin distribution (green) in the retinal cell layers. Intense immunofluorescence staining is observed in the inner segment layer with more moderate staining in the outer nuclear, outer plexiform, inner nuclear and inner plexiform layers. OS, outer segment; IS, inner segment; ONL, outer nuclear layer, OPL, outer plexiform layer; INL, inner nuclear layer; IPL, inner plexiform layer; GCL, ganglion cell layer. Bar – 20 μm.

remaining types of mutations combined (i.e. frameshift, nonsense, splice site and in-frame deletion mutations) are randomly distributed along the protein. This suggests that the discoidin domain is most crucial for *RS1* function with strong constraints on defined amino acid residues.

While XLRS families often segregate unique disease mutations (e.g. Leu69Pro or Asn104Lys), a number of sequence alterations are recurrent. Most notably, the missense mutation Glu72Lys has been reported 66 times while mutations Arg102Trp, Arg102Gln, Arg141Cys, Pro192Ser, Arg200Cys, and Arg213Trp were found in 17 or more apparently unrelated families, respectively. In addition, residues such as Glu72, Pro192, Arg197, and Arg209 were found to be affected by at least 4 different amino acid substitutions. These commonly altered amino acid residues could be indicative of mutational hotspots and/or functionally or structurally important moieties within the mature retinoschisin protein.

4. Mouse models for X-linked juvenile retinoschisis

To date, three independent mouse lines targeting *Rs1h*, the murine ortholog of the human *RS1* gene (Gehrig et al., 1999b), have been reported, all resulting in deficiency of the endogenous murine retinoschisin (Jablonski et al., 2005; Weber et al., 2002; Zeng et al., 2004). Disruption of the *Rs1h* gene was accomplished by targeting exon 1 (Zeng et al., 2004) or exon 3 (Weber et al., 2002) with a neomycin resistance (neo^r) expression cassette or an in-frame lacZ-neo^r expression cassette, respectively. An ENU-induced mutagenesis resulted in a T > C substitution in intron 2 of the *Rs1h* gene at donor splice site position +2 (Jablonski et al., 2005). This latter mutation activates an alternative splice donor site 11 bp further downstream of intron 2 and results in the expression of two novel retinoschisin isoforms both of which encode a premature stop codon close to the site of the original mutation.

Predicting a convergent effect of Rs1h targeting on retinoschisin protein expression in the knockout lines and the splice site mutation, it is not surprising that the retinal phenotypes reveal striking similarities in the three mouse models (Jablonski et al., 2005; Weber et al., 2002; Zeng et al., 2004). Prominent morphological features include disruption of retinal layers accompanied by displaced photoreceptor nuclei and schisis of the inner nuclear layer of the retina, as well as disruption of synaptic structures in the outer plexiform layer (see Fig. 7). OCT has confirmed that microcystic cavities observed using histological techniques are present in vivo (Xu et al., 2009). These studies further suggest that the observed cavities are filled with fluid. Overall, the diseased murine retina in hemizygous males shows a dramatic and progressive loss of photoreceptor cells starting at postnatal day 14. Functionally, the morphological pathology correlates well with an attenuation of the b-wave in the scotopic ERG response while at the same time the a-wave appears mostly regular. This electrodiagnostic feature, known as the 'negative' ERG response in human patients (Karpe, 1945; Weleber and Francis, 2006) points to an inner retinal transmission deficit and, more specifically, to severe impairment of bipolar cell-associated pathways. Overall, the structural and functional changes observed in the retinoschisin-deficient mice closely mimic human XLRS patients making these mutant mice excellent models to further study functional aspects of normal and mutant retinoschisin and to develop potential therapeutic treatments for XLRS.

5. Structural features of retinoschisin

Retinoschisin, also known as RS1, is a highly conserved 23 kDa extracellular protein (Sauer et al., 1997). All mammalian proteins for which the complete sequence is available including human, horse,

mouse, rat, bovine, rabbit and canine are 224 amino acids in length and share 95–97% sequence identity. Orthologs of lower vertebrates tend to be slightly longer and show a lower degree of sequence identity. For example, chicken retinoschisin contains 225 amino acids and is 81% identical to human retinoschisin whereas zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) and frog (*Xenopus laevis*) contain 230 and 237 amino acids, respectively, and are about 73% identical.

Retinoschisin is organized in four distinct regions. These include a 23 amino acid N-terminal leader or signal sequence, a dominant 157 amino acid discoidin domain, a 39 amino acid Rs1 domain upstream of the discoidin domain, and a 5 amino acid C-terminal segment (Molday, 2007; Sauer et al., 1997).

5.1. Discoidin (DS) domain

The discoidin (DS) domain, also known as the F5/8 type C domain, was first identified in the discoidin 1 protein of *D. discoideum* (Poole et al., 1981). It was subsequently found in a wide variety of eukaryotic and prokaryotic transmembrane and extracellular proteins either as a single entity or as tandem repeats often in combination with other extracellular domains (Baumgartner et al., 1998; Kiedzierska et al., 2007). Some types of proteins which contain DS domains are blood coagulation factors (Factor V and Factor VIII), enzymes (galactose oxidase and sialidase), lectins (discoidin I and II and hemocytin), cell surface tyrosine kinase receptors (discoidin receptor I and II), and proteins involved in cellular adhesion, fertilization, migration, signaling, and development (SEDI also known as milk fat globule-EGF factor, neurexin IV, neuropilin, and others).

DS domains are typically composed of approximately 150 amino acids and share a moderate to high degree of sequence similarity and protein structural fold. Cysteine residues commonly mark the beginning and end of the DS domain.

High resolution structures for a number of DS domains have been determined by X-ray crystallography and nuclear magnetic resonance (Carafoli et al., 2009; Fuentes-Prior et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2003; Lin et al., 2007; Macedo-Ribeiro et al., 1999; Pratt et al., 1999; Vander Kooi et al., 2007). They all have a protein fold similar to that first observed for the crystal structure of the D1 domain of galactose oxidase (Baumgartner et al., 1998; Ito et al., 1994). The core DS domain is organized as a compact β sandwich or distorted barrel consisting of a 5-stranded antiparallel β -sheet (β 1, β 2, β 7, β 4, β 5) packed against 3-stranded antiparallel β -sheet (β 6, β 3, β 8) (Fig. 3). At one end, short segments connect the β -strands and a disulphide bridge links the N and C-terminal cysteine residues together to further stabilizing the structure. At the opposite end spikes or loops extend from the core β -barrel structure. Two or more of these spikes form a groove or cavity which serves as the recognition site for interaction of the DS domain with its ligand. In the case of blood coagulation Factors V and VIII, the spikes contain a complement of hydrophobic amino acids which can insert into the plasma membrane of blood platelets and endothelial cells (Fuentes-Prior et al., 2002; Macedo-Ribeiro et al., 1999; Pratt et al., 1999). A ring of charged residues within the hydrophobic groove enables the DS domains of Factor V and VIII to selectively interact with the polar head group of phosphatidylserine as a key step in the blood coagulation cascade.

Spike regions and the binding cavity of different DS domains vary widely in amino acid sequence. This sequence variation appears to allow DS domains to bind a wide range of ligands including lipids, carbohydrates and proteins. The DS domain of SED1 or milk fat globule (MFG), like Factor V and VIII, binds acidic phospholipids including phosphatidylserine on the membrane surface of sperm and zona pellucida as an essential step in fertilization (Ensslin and Shur, 2003; Raymond et al., 2009). Discoidin



Fig. 3. Sequence alignment and structural homology model of retinoschisin discoidin domain. (a) Alignment of the discoidin domain sequences of human (Hu-RS1) and mouse (Mo-RS1) retinoschisin with D2 discoidin domain sequences of human Factor V (Hu-FV) and human Factor VIII (Hu-FVIII). Numbering is for retinoschisin; yellow shows amino acid identity; β-strands and spike regions are shown below sequences; cysteine residues involved in disulphide bonds are outlined. (b) Homology model of the discoidin domain of retinoschisin obtained using Factor V as a template. Cysteine residues including those involved in intramolecular disulphide bonds are shown in blue. Modified from Wu and Molday (2003).

domain receptors 1 and 2 (DDR1 and DDR2) are tyrosine kinase receptors. The extracellular DS domains of these receptors bind collagen and initiate receptor phosphorylation which in turn regulates a variety of cellular processes including cell proliferation, adhesion and migration (Carafoli et al., 2009; Vogel et al., 1997, 2006). Neuropilin, a cell surface receptor which regulates a variety of developmental processes including cell adhesion, angiogenesis, and neuronal migration binds semaphorin and VEGF (Gu et al., 2003; Vander Kooi et al., 2007). Finally, DS domains of some lectins, sialidases and chitobiases bind various glycoconjugates (Baumgartner et al., 1998; Mathieu et al., 2010). The ligands for most DS domains, however, have yet to be determined. In contrast to the spike regions, the amino acid sequence of the core β -barrel structure of the DS domain is more highly conserved consistent with its role as a scaffold for the hypervariable spikes (Fig. 3a). A high resolution structure of the retinoschisin DS domain has yet to be determined. However, homology models have been generated using the C2 discoidin domains of Factor V (39% sequence identity) and Factor VIII (33% sequence identity) as templates (Fraternali et al., 2003; Sergeev et al., 2010; Wu and Molday, 2003). In these models the DS domain of retinoschisin is predicted to have a core hydrophobic distorted β -barrel structure consisting of 8 β -strands (Fig. 3b). Three prominent spikes protrude from one end of the core structure with a shorter hairpin loop between β -strands 5 and 6 (Wu and Molday, 2003). There are 5 cysteine residues within the DS domain (Fig. 3a). The conserved cysteine residues at the beginning (C63) and end (C219) are modeled with a disulphide bridge as has been found for corresponding cysteine residues in other eukaryotic DS domains (Carafoli et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2003; Macedo-Ribeiro et al., 1999). Two additional cysteine residues, one in spike 2 (C110) and another in spike 3 (C142), are in close proximity to each other and have been modeled to join through a disulphide bridge. Mass spectrometric analyses of tryptic peptides from nonreduced retinoschisin together with mutagenesis studies support the existence of a C110-C142 disulphide bond (Wu and Molday, 2003; Wu et al., 2005). The C63-C219 and C110-C142 intramolecular disulphide bonds are crucial for the proper folding and stability of retinoschisin since substitution of any of these residues with a serine results in a misfolded protein which is retained in the cell by the quality control system of the ER (Wu and Molday, 2003). Furthermore, genetic screening has revealed that missense mutations involving cysteine residues at positions 110, 142, or 219 (C110Y, C142W, C219 R/G) are responsible for XLRS (Hiriyanna et al., 1999). A missense mutation in C63 is also likely to cause XLRS although to date patients with such a mutation have not been reported.

An additional cysteine residue is present at position 83 within the retinoschisin DS domain. The corresponding position is occupied by alanine in the DS domain of Factor V and VIII and most other DS containing proteins. Mass spectrometry of nonreduced bovine retinoschisin treated with N-ethylmaleimide prior to protease digestion together with cysteine mutagenesis studies support the view that C83 is buried within the core DS structure in its reduced state (Wu et al., 2005).

5.2. Rs1 domain and the C-terminal segment

The region upstream of the DS domain lacks significant sequence similarity to other proteins in the databases and hence has been called the Rs1 domain (Molday, 2007). It contains four conserved cysteine residues, three of which (C38, C40, C42) are within a conserved KACKCDCQ motif. A fourth cysteine Cys59 is located just prior to the start of the DS domain. A stretch of 5 highly conserved amino acids lies just downstream of the DS domain at the carboxyl terminal end of retinoschisin. This segment contains a conserved cysteine (C223) at the penultimate position of retinoschisin which is preceded by a conserved lysine residue.

The RS1 domain and C-terminal segment play a crucial role in the oligomerization state of retinoschisin (Fig. 4). Site directed mutagenesis studies have implicated C59 and C223 in the formation of intermolecular disulphide bridges between adjacent retinoschisin subunits (Wu and Molday, 2003; Wu et al., 2005). These disulphide bonds are required for homo-octameric complex formation since elimination of these linkages through serine substitutions abolishes the complex even under nondenaturing conditions (Wu et al., 2005). The C40 residue participates in an additional intermolecular disulphide bridge that links two retinoschisin subunits together as dimers within the octameric complex (see below). The role of C38 and C42 and their possible involvement in disulphide bonding remains to be determined experimentally.

5.3. Leader or signal sequence

Most proteins which are destined to be secreted from cells contain a short N-terminal sequence known as a leader or signal sequence or peptide (Blobel and Dobberstein, 1975; Gierasch, 1989; Martoglio and Dobberstein, 1998; Walter and Johnson, 1994). The signal sequence is synthesized off of free ribosomes. As the signal sequence emerges from the ribosome, it interacts with the signal recognition particle (SRP) which in turn directs the complex to the cytoplasmic surface of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) through its interaction with the SRP receptor. The nascent polypeptide is then transported across the ER membrane through a channel complex known as the peptide translocation complex or translocon. As the peptide emerges from the translocon, the signal peptide is cleaved



Fig. 4. Oligomeric structure of retinoschisin. (a) SDS gels of wild-type (WT) and mutant retinoschisin proteins run under nonreducing conditions. WT and C40S mutant run as a 186 kDa octamer; C59S/C223S mutant runs as a dimer; and C40S/C59S/C223S runs as a monomer. (b) Working model for the organization of retinoschisin subunits into an octameric complex via disulphide bonding. The octameric structure is maintained by C59–C223 disulphide bonds. Within the octamer, four dimers are maintained by disulphide bonding involving C40. Rs1 domain and discoidin domain (DS) and carboxyl terminal segment (Ct) are indicated. Modified from Wu et al. (2005).

by a signal peptidase present on the lumen side of the ER membrane and the nascent polypeptide chain undergoes cotranslational processing and folding into a native-like conformation (Fig. 5a). In some cases it can subsequently undergoes subunit assembly before emerging from the ER into transport vesicles. After further processing in the Golgi network, the post-Golgi transport vesicles fuse with the plasma membrane and release the protein into the extracellular environment.

A signal sequence has three characteristic features (Martoglio and Dobberstein, 1998). It has an N-terminal stretch of polar residues with a net positive charge, a central core hydrophobic segment of 6-15 amino acids, and a downstream segment of polar residues often containing glycine or proline residues and small uncharged polar residues at positions -3 and -1 from the site of cleavage.

When retinoschisin was first cloned in 1997 (Sauer et al., 1997), the N-terminal 23 amino acid was found to have the structural features of a cleavable signal sequence. N-terminal sequencing of purified bovine retinoschisin by Edman degradation and tryptic peptide analysis by mass spectrometry have confirmed that cleavage does occur following serine at position 23 to generate a 201 amino acid mature protein (Wu et al., 2005). Subsequent studies of mouse retinoschisin, however, have revealed the existence of another signal peptidase cleavage site at position 21 (Vijayasarathy et al., 2006). The physiological significance of the two mature isoforms of retinoschisin has not been established.

5.4. Oligomeric structure of retinoschisin

Although retinoschisin is synthesized as a ~ 23 kDa protein, it is assembled in the ER and secreted from cells as complex composed of four disulphide dimers within a disulphide-linked homo-octameric complex (Fig. 4). Evidence for this complex has come from biochemical analysis of retinal membrane extracts and cellular and secreted fractions of cultured Weri retinoblastoma cells and HEK293 cells expressing wild-type (WT) and mutant retinoschisin (Molday et al., 2001; Wu et al., 2005). Under disulphide reducing



Fig. 5. Diagram depicting the effect of various disease-causing missense mutations on retinoschisin synthesis, protein folding/ER retention, and subunit oligomerization. (a) Wild-type retinoschisin synthesized off of ribosomes associated with the ER membrane is threaded through the translocon and the signal sequence is cleaved by a signal peptidase in the ER lumen to produce the mature folded retinoschisin (RS1) polypeptide. RS1 assembles into a disulphide-linked octameric complex which is exported from cells via the secretory pathway (not shown). (b) Mutations in the signal sequence (L12H and L13P) prevent the insertion of the nascent polypeptide chain into the translocon of the ER resulting in a misfolded polypeptide localized to the cytoplasm where it is rapid degraded by the proteosome. Mutations in the ER. Cysteine mutations (C59S and C223R) in the regions flanking the DS domain result in relatively normal protein synthesis, folding, and disulphide-linked dimerization, but fail to further oligomerize into an octameric complex. As a result the retinoschisin dimers are secreted from cells, but are non-functional due to their failure to form disulphide-linked otamers.

conditions retinoschisin in these preparations migrates on SDS polyacrylamide gels as a 23 kDa protein in agreement with its size predicted from its amino acid sequence. In contrast, under nonreducing conditions retinoschisin and the C40S mutant run as a 186 kDa complex (Fig. 4a). The retinoschisin C38S/C40S/C42S triple mutant also runs predominantly as a 186 kDa complex under nonreducing conditions, but in addition the monomer and intermediate oligomers corresponding to the dimer through heptamer are visible providing strong evidence that the 186 kDa protein consists of 8 subunits (Wu et al., 2005).

Cysteine residues which form intermolecular disulphide bonds responsible for the homo-octameric structure were first identified by site-directed mutagenesis (Wu and Molday, 2003; Wu et al., 2005). Substitution of the cysteine at position 59 in the RS1 domain and/or the cysteine at position 223 in the C-terminal segment with serine prevents the formation of the 186 kDa octameric complex (Fig. 4a). Instead, these mutants migrate as dimers indicating that one or more additional disulphide bridge involving different cysteine residues are responsible for dimer formation. Cysteine at position 40 in the RS1 domain has been implicated in dimer formation since the C59S/C223S/C40S triple mutant migrates as a monomer under both reducing and nonreducing conditions. A working model which encompasses these observations is illustrated in Fig. 4b.

Disulphide-linked homo-octamerization appears to play an essential role in the function of retinoschisin as an extracellular protein since mutations which disrupt the complex i.e. C59S and C223R, are known to cause XLRS. The oligomeric nature may be important in increasing the binding affinity of retinoschisin for its receptor on cell surfaces. This is supported in studies which have shown that wild-type homo-octameric retinoschisin efficiently binds to galactose-agarose whereas the dimeric mutant (C59S/ C223S) exhibits weak binding. Most DS domain containing proteins have either multiple DS domains within the polypeptide chain or assemble as oligomers suggesting that multiple DS domains are needed to enhance binding to their ligands.

6. Binding of retinoschisin to photoreceptor and bipolar cell surfaces

Retinoschisin expressed and secreted primarily from photoreceptor and to a lesser extent bipolar cells bind strongly and specifically to the surface of these cells as revealed by immunocytochemical and biochemical studies (Molday et al., 2001; Reid et al., 2003; Takada et al., 2004). In order to gain insight into the function of retinoschisin in the retina, a number of studies have been directed toward identifying the molecular component(s) which anchor retinoschisin to the surface of photoreceptor and bipolar cells through its DS domain. Three candidates have emerged from these studies.

6.1. Na/K ATPase-SARM1 complex

Na/K ATPase is a P-type ATPase which plays an essential role in generating Na and K gradients across the plasma membrane (Blanco and Mercer, 1998; Jorgensen et al., 2003; Kaplan, 2002). It consists of two principal subunits, α or A subunit of 112 kDa and β or B subunit of 40–60 kDa. An additional FXYD protein of approximately 10 kDa is present in some tissue specific Na/K ATPases. There are four isoforms of the α catalytic subunit (α 1– α 4) encoded by the *ATP1A1-4* genes and four β -isoforms (β 1– β 4) encoded by the *ATP1B1-4* genes. The α subunit consists of 10 membrane spanning segments with the N and C termini and the large catalytic domain located on the cytoplasmic side of the

membrane and only short loops joining the transmembrane segments on the extracellular side of the membrane. The β subunit contains a single transmembrane segment and a relatively large, highly glycosylated extracellular domain. This subunit plays a crucial role in the proper folding and cellular trafficking of Na/K ATPase and is required for generating a functional protein complex. Earlier studies directed toward mapping the various Na/K ATPase isoforms in the mouse retina showed that Na/K ATPase $(\alpha 3/\beta 2)$ is a major isoform in the retina and is restricted to photoreceptors and bipolar cells (Wetzel et al., 1999). The β2 subunit of Na/K ATPases in neuronal cells has been identified as the AMOG (Adhesion Molecule On Glia) protein implicated in neural-glia interactions (Antonicek et al., 1987; Gloor et al., 1990; Magyar et al., 1994; Mink et al., 2001; Molthagen et al., 1996). Hence, this subunit not only functions as an accessory subunit for the catalytic subunit of Na/K ATPase, but is also involved in cell adhesion.

SARM1, the sterile alpha and TIR motif-containing 1 protein, is an intracellular protein that plays a role in innate immunity as a negative regulator of Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) (Carty et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2011; Mink et al., 2001; O'Neill and Bowie, 2007). It has also been implicated in the regulation of neuronal cell morphology through its interaction with syndecan-2 (Chen et al., 2011).

When a detergent solubilized retina extract was applied to a solid support consisting of a highly specific retinoschisin monoclonal antibody coupled to Sepharose, the α 3 and β 2 subunits of Na/ K ATPase, and SARM1, were found to be major components which co-immunoprecipitated with retinoschisin as revealed by both mass spectrometry and western blotting (Molday et al., 2007). Immunofluorescence labeling studies confirmed the colocalization of retinoschisin and Na/K ATPase (α 3, β 2) to photoreceptor and bipolar cells in the mouse retina. Immunofluorescence microscopy also indicated that SARM1 was present in photoreceptors and bipolar cells.

Friedrich et al. (2011) have subsequently used knockout mice and heterologous protein expression in HEK293 cells to study the interaction of retinoschisin with Na/K ATPase. Both retinoschisin and Na/K ATPase expression were severely reduced in the retinas of Atp1b2^{-/-} mice deficient in β 2 subunit of Na/K ATPase (Magyar et al., 1994). Exogenously added retinoschisin bound to retinal membranes of retinoschisin-deficient $Rs1h^{-/Y}/Atp1b2^{+/-}$ mice which express the Na/K ATPase (α 3/ β 2) isoform, but failed to bind membranes from $Rs1h^{-/Y}/Atp1b2^{-/-}$ mice deficient in the β 2 isoform (Friedrich et al., 2011). Furthermore, retinoschisin was found to specifically bind to membrane extracts from HEK293 cells co-expressing the α 3 and β 2 subunits of Na/K ATPase, but not membranes from nontransfected cells or cells expressing only one of the subunits.

Taken together, these studies provide strong support for the role of Na/K ATPase in anchoring retinoschisin to the surface membranes of photoreceptors and bipolar cells. The site of interaction of retinoschisin with Na/K ATPase remains to be determined. However, based on structure-function analysis of Na/K ATPase and studies showing that the β 2 subunit (AMOG) is involved in neural–glial interactions in neural tissue (Gloor et al., 1990), the extracellular domain of β 2 subunit of the Na/K ATPase complex most likely contains the binding site for retinoschisin (Friedrich et al., 2011; Molday et al., 2007). Previous studies have shown that retinoschisin binds to modified galactose residues, a property that can be used to purify retinoschisin (Dyka et al., 2008). Hence, it is possible that the site of interaction could be one or more of the Nglycans of the β 2 subunit. Alternatively the polypeptide chain of the β 2 subunit may contain the binding site.

Since SARM1 co-immunoprecipitates and co-localizes with retinoschisin and the Na/K ATPase in retina, SARM1 has been suggested to be a component of the retinoschisin-Na/K ATPase complex (Molday et al., 2007). However, it remains to be

determined whether SARM1 acts as a signaling molecule to modulate photoreceptor and bipolar cell homeostasis or is only a passive member of the complex. Analysis of the retina of a SARM1 knockout mouse would provide insight into the possible role of SARM1 in retinal structure and function.

6.2. Phosphatidylserine (PS)

Phosphatidylserine (PS) is an acidic phospholipid principally localized to the cytoplasmic leaflet of cell membranes and in particular the plasma membrane. In some instances, the asymmetrical distribution of PS is compromised through cell injury leading to the exposure of PS on the outer leaflet of cells. This can trigger such cellular events as phagocytosis or protein binding. A number of discoidin-domain containing proteins have been shown to bind PS, with blood coagulation Factor V and Factor VIII being the most-well studied (Ortel et al., 1992a, 1992b; Zwaal et al., 1998). In resting platelets and endothelial cells, PS is found exclusively on the inner leaflet of the cell surface membrane. Upon injury to blood vessels a series of reactions occurs that leads to the loss in PS membrane asymmetry as part of the platelet/endothelial activation process. This allows Factor V and Factor VIII to bind to PS on the surface of the activated cells through their DS domains and initiate the blood coagulation cascade (Fuentes-Prior et al., 2002).

Sequence similarity between retinoschisin and Factor V together with early homology modeling and molecular dynamics first led to the suggestion that PS may serve as the ligand for retinoschisin (Fraternali et al., 2003). Sieving and colleagues have pursued this idea experimentally showing that a bacterial expressed recombinant protein corresponding to the DS domain of retinoschisin bound to immobilized acidic phospholipids and in particular PS (Vijayasarathy et al., 2007). They subsequently showed that retinoschisin interacts with PS containing planar lipid bilayers in the presence of Ca²⁺ as revealed by atomic force microscopy (Kotova et al., 2010). These studies used lipid mixtures containing varying amounts of PS down to a molar composition of 12%, a concentrate which resembles the PS composition of synaptic vesicles. However, since the external surface of most cells typically contains extremely low levels of PS due to PS asymmetry generated by aminophospholipid flippases (Folmer et al., 2009), the physiological significance of the interaction of retinoschisin to these model membranes is unclear and needs further clarification.

Two independent groups have investigated the binding of retinoschisin to PS-containing lipid vesicles derived from a mixture of synthetic phospholipids or retinal lipids (Friedrich et al., 2011; Molday et al., 2007). In both studies, retinoschisin failed to bind these PS containing membranes even in the presence of Ca^{2+} . Hence, it remains to be determined if PS mediates the specific binding of retinoschisin to photoreceptor and bipolar cell surfaces or alternatively adsorbs to negatively charged lipid surfaces under certain conditions through weak ionic interactions.

6.3. L-type voltage-gated calcium channels

L-type voltage-gated calcium channels play a crucial role in a number of cellular process including muscle contraction, cell motility, cell division and synaptic transmission (Hosey et al., 1996). They consist of 4 subunits, $\alpha 1$, β , $\alpha 2$ and δ , with $\alpha 1$ being responsible for most of the electrophysiological and pharmacological properties of the channel and the other accessory subunits being important for channel stability and modulation of the gating and kinetics. L-type voltage-gated channels play a crucial role in photoreceptorbipolar neurotransmission. In mammalian retina, rod and cone photoreceptors express the CACNA1F (α 1F) subunit encoded by the *CACNA1F* gene (Morgans, 2001; Morgans et al., 2005). In addition, cone photoreceptors express the CACNA1D (α 1D) subunit. Mutations in the CACNA1F are known to cause incomplete congenital stationary night blindness (CSNB2) associated with a loss in b-wave amplitude of the ERGs (Bech-Hansen et al., 1998; Shi et al., 2009; Strom et al., 1998).

Shi et al. (2009) have recently examined the interaction of retinoschisin with L-type voltage-gated calcium channels from chick retina. In these studies, an anti-retinoschisin antibody was found to co-immunoprecipitate an L-type voltage-gated channel with retinoschisin. Using a mammalian two-hybrid assay, they further showed that retinoschisin binds within a 500 amino acid N-terminal region of chicken CACNA1D gene, which is highly conserved in human CACNA1D and CACNA1F subunits (Shi et al., 2009). On the basis of these studies, they have suggested that retinoschisin plays an important role in the retention of L-type voltage calcium channels in photoreceptor presynaptic membranes and is indirectly involved in photoreceptor-bipolar transmission. The possible interaction of retinoschisin with these channels is intriguing since it may explain the loss in ERG b-wave amplitude which is observed in patients with XLRS and CSNB2. However, the distribution of the retinoschisin and L-type channels differ significantly in the retina. Whereas retinoschisin is widely distributed in photoreceptor and bipolar cells as previously discussed, the CAC-NA1D and CNCNA1F channels are restricted to the outer and inner plexiform layers (Morgans, 2001; Morgans et al., 2005). Hence, if the interaction of retinoschisin with these channels can be confirmed by additional studies, it would suggest that retinoschisin likely has multiple membrane binding partners.

7. Possible function of retinoschisin in the retina

The function of retinoschisin in the retina is not well understood. However, it has been generally suggested that retinoschisin functions as a cell adhesion protein to maintain the cellular organization of the retina and the structural integrity of the photoreceptor-bipolar synapse. This is based on the finding that XLRS patients and *Rs1h* knockout mice exhibit a highly disorganized retinal architecture and the existence of the DS domain which has been implicated in cell adhesion processes. However, to date there is no direct evidence that retinoschisin interacts with other components of the extracellular matrix or participates in direct cell–cell interactions to stabilize the structure of the retina.

Another possible role of retinoschisin may be to help regulate the fluid balance between the intracellular and extracellular environment particularly within the photoreceptor and bipolar cell layers. Regulation of cell volume and tissue osmotic homeostasis is a complex process involving numerous membrane transporters and channels including the NaK ATPase. One can speculate that the binding of retinoschisin to the NaK ATPase may directly affect the activity of this pump in controlling ion gradients and consequently fluid balance and tissue osmolarity. Alternatively, the binding of retinoschisin to the NaK ATPase may influence fluid balance indirectly through an intracellular signaling pathway. In such a case loss of functional retinoschisin could cause fluid accumulation in the extracellular environment in the form of fluid-filled cystic cavity as observed in the retina of XLRS patients and Rs1h knockout mice by OCT and histology (Eriksson et al., 2004; Renner et al., 2008; Weber et al., 2002; Xu et al., 2009). The cystic cavities could in turn disrupt the organized layers of the retina causing a dysfunction of the photoreceptor-bipolar synapse. Indeed, this may also explain the effect of dorzolamide, a carbonic anhydrase inhibitor, in reducing schisis cavities in some XLRS patients as observed by OCT (Apushkin and Fishman, 2006). It also may explain why retina splitting and cystic cavities are sometimes seen in layers of the retina which are removed from cells expressing retinoschisin. Additional studies are needed to test this model and further define the role of retinoschisin in retinal cell physiology.

8. Molecular and cellular mechanisms underlying XLRS

As discussed above, up to 40% of the disease-causing mutations are nonsense or frameshift mutations which are predicted to result in the absence of a full-length retinoschisin protein. Any residual translation would likely result in an unstable truncated polypeptide that would be rapidly degraded in the cell. Hence, the disease phenotype for such mutations is expected to arise from a complete deficiency of retinoschisin. Over 50% of disease-causing mutations, however, are missense mutations which allow the translation of the full-length mutant protein. A number of studies have been directed toward determining how various disease-associated missense mutations affect retinoschisin expression, subcellular localization, and protein structure (Vijayasarathy et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2002; Wu and Molday, 2003). Three principal mechanisms have been defined all of which produce a non-functional protein (Fig. 5). This is generally consistent with studies that have found little or no significant correlation between genotype and phenotype in XLRS patients (Eksandh et al., 2000; Sergeev et al., 2010; Shinoda et al., 2000).

8.1. Mutations in the DS domain cause protein misfolding and retention in the ER

A number of studies have been carried out to assess the effects of *RS1* disease-linked missense mutations in the DS domain on retinoschisin structure and function (Curat et al., 2001; Iannaccone et al., 2006; Sergeev et al., 2010; Vijayasarathy et al., 2010; Walia et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2002; Wu and Molday, 2003). In one study, Curat et al. (2001) analyzed mutations G70S, R102W, W112C, G140R, G178D, P193L, P203L, R213W and E215Q at homologous positions of the human discoidin receptor 1 (DDR1). In this chimeric receptor system, some residues affected receptor phosphorylation, while others influenced both collagen-binding and receptor activation.

In another experimental approach, Wang et al. (2002) and Wu and Molday (2003) expressed wild-type and mutant retinoschisin in culture cells and compared their expression, biochemical properties, and secretion from cells. Whereas the wild-type protein was efficiently expressed and secreted from cells, the majority of the proteins with disease-associated mutations in the DS domain (e.g. G70S, E72K, R102W, G109R, G109E, C110Y, W112C, R141C, C142W, D143V, R182C, P203L, R213W, C219R) were severely misfolding and retained in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) by the quality control system of cells (Ellgaard et al., 1999). Mutations which result in either the addition or removal of cysteine residues in particular were found to induce the formation of aberrant disulphide bridges leading to significant protein aggregation within the ER of the cells as analyzed on nonreducing SDS polyacrylamide gels (Wu and Molday, 2003). Disease-causing mutations in the core barrel structure and spike regions which do not involve cysteine residues also caused protein misfolding most likely by interfering with specific hydrophobic, hydrogen bonding, and/or electrostatic interactions essential for proper protein folding. The large number of diseaseassociated missense mutations in the retinoschisin DS domain which result in protein misfolding and ER retention indicates that this domain is a finely tuned structure that cannot accommodate many amino acid substitutions (Fig. 6). The finding that these mutants are expressed but not secreted from cells suggests that the disease phenotype arises primarily from the loss in functional protein. Any stress resulting from the unfolded protein response (Nakatsukasa and Brodsky, 2008) appears to have little if any influence on the disease phenotype (Vijayasarathy et al., 2010).



Fig. 6. Location of selected missense mutations within retinoschisin structure. (a) A linear diagram showing the organization of retinoschisin into it various domains along with selected disease-associated missense mutations (SS – cleavable signal sequence; Rs1 domain; discoidin domain; and Ct – C-terminal segment). (b) Selected missense mutations are shown within a model of the mature retinoschisin subunit. The structure of the Rs1 domain and C-terminal segment is not known and drawn as lines within a dashed ellipse with mutations shown in green spheres. The discoidin domain structure is based on the homology modeling shown in Fig. 3b with mutations shown in blue spheres with the exception of R141H which is shown as a red sphere.

8.2. Cysteine mutations in Rs1/C-terminal regions cause defective oligomerization

To date two disease-linked missense mutations (C59S and C223R) have been found in the regions flanking the DS domain (Gehrig et al., 1999a; Hiriyanna et al., 1999). Neither mutation significantly interferes with protein folding and secretion from cells. Instead, they prevent the assembly of retinoschisin into a homo-octameric complex (Fig. 5b) (Wu and Molday, 2003). These studies highlight the importance of the octameric structure in the function of retinoschisin as an extracellular protein. Disease-causing missense mutations in other residues of the RS1 domain and C-terminal segment have yet to be found.

8.3. Mutations in the signal sequence cause abnormal protein synthesis and localization

Disease-causing missense mutations in the 23-amino-acid signal sequence of RS1 (L12H, L13P) cause severely reduced protein expression and mislocalization within cells (Hiriyanna et al., 1999;

Vijayasarathy et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2002; Wu and Molday, 2003). These mutations most likely disrupt the α -helical conformation of the leader sequence thereby preventing the nascent polypeptide chain from inserting into the ER membrane during protein biosynthesis (Fig. 5b). As a result the protein is mislocalized to the cytoplasm where it is rapidly degraded by the proteasomal degradation pathway (Wang et al., 2002; Wu and Molday, 2003).

8.4. Other pathogenic mechanisms

Although most disease-associated missense mutations fall into one of the three mechanisms discussed above and illustrated in Fig. 5, at least one disease-associated mutation may cause XLRS by a different mechanism. The R141H mutant is secreted from cultured cells as a disulphide associated octamer and exhibits similar galactose binding properties as wild-type retinoschisin (Dyka and Molday, 2007; Dyka et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2006). The R141H mutation located in spike 3 of the DS domain (Fig. 6b) appears to enable retinoschisin to fold and assemble into a native-like octameric complex which is secreted from cells, but this substitution may interfere with the ability of retinoschisin to bind to its cognate receptor on retinal cell surfaces. Alternatively, this mutant may bind to its receptor, but serve as an antagonist with respect to retinoschisin function. Finally, it is possible that retinal cells differ sufficiently from culture cells in their chaperones and ER quality control system such that the R141H mutant is retained in retinal cells, but not in culture cells. Indeed, differential effects of some mutations on the folding and secretion of proteins have been observed in different cell types. For example, a small amount of the R141G mutant has been found to be secreted from transfected COS-7 cells, whereas secretion of this mutant was not detected in transfected HEK293 cells (Dyka and Molday, 2007; Wang et al., 2002). Wang et al. (2006) have also reported that small amounts of several other disease-associated mutants (F108C, R182C, H207Q and R209H, and C219G) are secreted from COS-7 cells, but it is unclear whether such mutants are functionally active.

9. Gene therapy in mouse models of XLRS

Gene therapy is a viable approach to prevent or slow vision loss in inherited retinal degenerative diseases (Dinculescu et al., 2005; Liu et al., 2010; Smith et al., 2009). For retinal degeneration caused by complete or partial loss in protein function, the delivery of the normal gene to cells harboring the defective gene is often sufficient to restore protein function and halt or at least slow retinal degeneration. Most studies have employed recombinant adenoassociated viral (rAAV) vectors to deliver the gene of interest to photoreceptor or RPE cells (Liu et al., 2010; Smith et al., 2009). These vectors have a number of advantages. They are nontoxic and nonimmunogenic when administered by subretinal injections, come in a variety of serotypes which differ in specific cell transfection efficiencies, effectively transduce nondividing cells including photoreceptors and RPE cells, and display long-term gene expression. Gene replacement strategy has proven successful in animal models for a number of recessive retinal degenerative diseases caused by mutations in genes expressed in retinal pigment epithelial cells (RPE) or photoreceptors (Acland et al., 2001; Alexander et al., 2007; Boye et al., 2010, 2011; Kong et al., 2008; Min et al., 2005; Pawlyk et al., 2005). Recently, Phase I/II clinical trials have shown that AAV-mediated gene therapy is safe and can restore some vision in individuals with autosomal recessive Leber congenital amaurosis type 2 (LCA2) associated with mutations in RPE65 (Bainbridge et al., 2008; Cideciyan et al., 2008; Jacobson et al., 2011; Maguire et al., 2009, 2008).



Fig. 7. Retinoschisin expression and retinal structure in a *Rs1h* knockout mouse treated with rAAV containing the human *RS1* cDNA under control of an upstream mouse opsin promoter (rAAV-mOps-RS1). The right eye of a 14 day old *Rs1h* knockout mouse was injected subretinally with rAAV-mOps-RS1 (Treated); the left eye was not injected and served as a contra lateral control (Untreated). One year post-treatment, the mouse was sacrificed and the both the untreated and treated retinas were immunolabeled for retinoschisin and visualized by confocal scanning microscopy. The untreated eye showing no retinoschisin expression was highly disorganized with a werging of the inner and outer nuclear layers and disrupted outer plexiform layer. The treated eye showed retinoschisin expression and distribution comparable to that of a wild-type retina (see Fig. 2) and significant improvement in retinal structure and photoreceptor survival as determined by the thickness of the outer nuclear layer (ONL). Bar – 20 μ m.

Since XLRS is a recessive disease caused by the loss in retinoschisin function, gene replacement therapy has been considered as a potential treatment for this disease. Furthermore, since retinoschisin functions as an extracellular protein, beneficial treatment is not necessarily restricted to the transfected cell expressing the replacement gene, but can encompass a wider area due to the spread of the secreted protein from the site of expression. Two independent groups have investigated the potential of gene replacement therapy to restore retinal structure and function and slow retinal degeneration in *Rs1h* knockout mice as an animal model for XLRS (Janssen et al., 2008; Kjellstrom et al., 2007; Park et al., 2009; Min et al., 2005; Takada et al., 2008; Zeng et al., 2004).

In one study, the normal recombinant AAV serotype 5 containing the human RS1 cDNA under the control of the mouse photoreceptor-specific mouse opsin promoter (AAV5-mOPs-RS1) was injected into the subretinal space of the right eyes of 14-day old Rs1h knockout mice with the untreated left eyes serving as controls (Janssen et al., 2008; Min et al., 2005). A gradual increase in retinoschisin expression was observed by immunofluorescence microscopy over the initial 12 week post-injection period. After this initial period, immunostaining of retinoschisin was seen throughout most of the treated retina with a distribution similar to that observed for wild-type mice. In particular, intense staining was observed in the inner segment layer and more moderate staining in the outer nuclear layer (ONL) and outer plexiform layer (OPL) of the outer retina and inner nuclear laver (INL) and inner plexiform laver (IPL) of the inner retina (Fig. 7). Retinoschisin was absent in the untreated control retina of the *Rsh1* knockout mouse as expected. Although RS1 gene expression was restricted to photoreceptors due to the mouse opsin promoter, the presence of retinoschisin in other layers of the retina indicated that the secreted protein was able to spread to other parts of the retina.

Retinoschisin expression in the treated eyes of *Rsh1* mice coincided with a significant improvement in the structure and function of the retina (Janssen et al., 2008; Min et al., 2005). The treated retina showed well-organized retina layers, the absence of cystic cavities within the bipolar cell layer, preservation of scotopic and photopic ERGs, and stabilization of the ONL thickness characteristic of sustained photoreceptor cell survival (Fig. 7). The untreated retina on the other hand showed the characteristic features of the advanced disease including disorganization of the retina layers,

loss in scotopic and photopic ERS response, and progressive degeneration of rod and cone photoreceptor cells. Importantly, retinoschisin expression and distribution together with improved structure and function of the retina following a single subretinal injection persisted for the lifetime of the mouse, i.e. >19 months (unpublished results). However, rescue of retina structure and function was dependent on the age at which the mice were treated with older mice showing significantly reduced therapeutic benefit (Janssen et al., 2008).

Sieving and coworkers have achieved similar rescue of retinal structure and function in Rsh1 knockout mice using a different although related approach (Kjellstrom et al., 2007; Takada et al., 2008; Zeng et al., 2004) In their studies, rAAV2 containing the mouse *Rs1h* cDNA under the control of the general CMV promoter was administered to knockout mice of various ages by intravitreal injections. Significant improvement in ERGs, retinal structure and photoreceptor cell survival was observed with the most evident success achieved when injections were carried out on 14 day old mice. Retinoschisin expression together with improved retinal structure and function persisted for over 15 months. Detailed structural analysis also showed an improved OPL structure which correlated with enhanced ERGs. Although the inner limiting membrane of wild-type mice appears to limit penetration of rAAV2 into the retina by intravitreal injections, this barrier appears to be compromised in the Rs1h knockout thereby allowing infiltration of rAAV2 into the retina. The retinal cell type(s) which expressed and secreted retinoschisin, however, was not determined in this study. More recently, Park et al. (2009) have administered rAAV8 containing the mouse Rs1h cDNA under the control of a 3.5 kb human retinoschisin promoter to Rs1h knockout mice by intravitreal injections. This approach was also reported to yield strong retinoschisin expression and secretion and significant rescue of retinal structure and function.

These studies indicate that the delivery of the normal *RS1* gene to retinal cells which do not express retinoschisin can promote long-term rescue of retinal structure and function and greatly slow photoreceptor degeneration. However, many XLRS patients harbor missense mutations which allow the expression of the mutated protein. Accordingly, wild-type retinoschisin expressed in these cells by gene delivery could interact with the endogenously expressed mutant retinoschisin diminishing the therapeutic effect of gene therapy. This has been studied by analyzing protein expression, cellular localization and secretion of wild-type retinoschisin co-expressed with various disease-linked missense mutants in culture cells (Dyka and Molday, 2007; Gleghorn et al., 2010). These studies indicate that wild-type retinoschisin undergoes protein folding, subunit assembly, and secretion largely independent of the misfolded mutants. Hence, delivery of the normal gene to XLRS patients expressing the mutant protein may not be a problem although ideally this should be investigated further in photoreceptors cells.

In considering future XLRS gene therapy clinical trials, both routes of vector administration (subretinal and intravitreal) are effective and feasible, although intravitreal injections may be the optimal route of administration due to the fragile nature of the retina of XLRS patients. However, it will be important to determine if AAV8 or other AAV serotypes can efficiently penetrate the retina of XLRS patients following intravitreal injections as demonstrated in *Rs1h* knockout mice.

10. Conclusions and future directions

Since XLRS was first reported over a century ago, significant progress has been made in the clinical diagnosis, genetic analysis, and molecular and cellular basis for the disease. A wide assortment of diagnostic tools has enabled clinical ophthalmologists to accurately identify and monitor the disease progression. Clinical diagnosis of XLRS has been greatly improved through the application of SD-OCT to noninvasively image splitting and disruption of the retinal layers. Following the initial discovery of the gene responsible for XLRS, international teams of molecular geneticists have identified over 190 different disease-causing mutations in the RS1 gene, most of which lead to null alleles or non-functional protein. Immunocytochemical and biochemical studies have shown that retinoschisin is expressed in retinal neurons early in development and secreted as a disulphide-linked oligomeric protein complex which specifically binds to the surface of photoreceptors and bipolar cells. A number of molecular mechanisms by which missense mutations cause XLRS have been elucidated. These include aberrant retinoschisin synthesis, protein misfolding, and defective subunit assembly. Hemizygous Rs1h knockout mice deficient in retinoschisin have been generated and shown to exhibit many of the characteristic features found in XLRS patients including cystic cavities, disorganization of the photoreceptor-bipolar synapse, reduction in b-wave of the ERG, and progressive loss in rod and cone photoreceptor cells. Delivery of the RS1 gene to Rs1h knockout mice using recombinant AAV has resulted in a remarkable improvement in retinal structure and function offering hope that this or related approaches may lead to future clinical trials for XLRS and benefit individuals affected with the disease.

Although significant progress has been made in understanding XLRS, there are still many important unresolved issues that require further study. The high resolution structure of retinoschisin remains to be determined to validate and extend biochemical analyses. The molecular mechanisms by which a deficiency in retinoschisin results in the disorganization of the photoreceptorbipolar cell synaptic structure and function and the formation of fluid-filled cystic cavities require further study. Controversies regarding the molecular nature of the components that interact with retinoschisin need to be resolved to more fully understand the role of retinoschisin in retinal cell biology and physiology. Finally, gene replacement studies successfully carried out on hemizygous *Rs1h* knockout mice need to be extended to large animals to optimize the route of delivery and site of injections prior to initiation of human clinical trials.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank members of their laboratory who performed many of the studies reviewed in this chapter. This work was supported by grants from the Foundation Fighting Blindness U.S., National Institutes of Health (EY02422), Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) WE 1259-12-4 and the Macula Vision Research Foundation.

References

- Acland, G.M., Aguirre, G.D., Ray, J., Zhang, Q., Aleman, T.S., Cideciyan, A.V., Pearce-Kelling, S.E., Anand, V., Zeng, Y., Maguire, A.M., et al., 2001. Gene therapy restores vision in a canine model of childhood blindness. Nat. Genet. 28, 92–95.
- Alexander, J.J., Umino, Y., Everhart, D., Chang, B., Min, S.H., Li, Q., Timmers, A.M., Hawes, N.L., Pang, J.J., Barlow, R.B., et al., 2007. Restoration of cone vision in a mouse model of achromatopsia. Nat. Med. 13, 685–687.
- Ali, A., Feroze, A.H., Rizvi, Z.H., Rehman, T.U., 2003. Consanguineous marriage resulting in homozygous occurrence of X-linked retinoschisis in girls. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 136, 767–769.
- Alitalo, T., Karna, J., Forsius, H., de la Chapelle, A., 1987. X-linked retinoschisis is closely linked to DXS41 and DXS16 but not DXS85. Clin. Genet. 32, 192–195.
- Antonicek, H., Persohn, E., Schachner, M., 1987. Biochemical and functional characterization of a novel neuron-glia adhesion molecule that is involved in neuronal migration. J. Cell Biol. 104, 1587–1595.
- Apushkin, M.A., Fishman, G.A., 2006. Use of dorzolamide for patients with X-linked retinoschisis. Retina 26, 741–745.
- Apushkin, M.A., Fishman, G.A., Janowicz, M.J., 2005a. Correlation of optical coherence tomography findings with visual acuity and macular lesions in patients with X-linked retinoschisis. Ophthalmology 112, 495–501.
- Apushkin, M.A., Fishman, G.A., Rajagopalan, A.S., 2005b. Fundus findings and longitudinal study of visual acuity loss in patients with X-linked retinoschisis. Retina 25, 612–618.
- Atchaneeyasakul, L.O., Trinavarat, A., Pituksung, A., Jinda, W., Thongnoppakhun, W., Limwongse, C., 2010. Mutations in the XLRS1 gene in Thai families with Xlinked juvenile retinoschisis. Jpn. J. Ophthalmol. 54, 89–93.
- Ayala-Ramirez, R., Graue-Wiechers, F., Robredo, V., Amato-Almanza, M., Horta-Diez, I., Zenteno, J.C., 2006. A new autosomal recessive syndrome consisting of posterior microphthalmos, retinitis pigmentosa, foveoschisis, and optic disc drusen is caused by a MFRP gene mutation. Mol. Vis. 12, 1483–1489.
- Bainbridge, J.W., Smith, A.J., Barker, S.S., Robbie, S., Henderson, R., Balaggan, K., Viswanathan, A., Holder, G.E., Stockman, A., Tyler, N., et al., 2008. Effect of gene therapy on visual function in Leber's congenital amaurosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 358, 2231–2239.
- Baumgartner, S., Hofmann, K., Chiquet-Ehrismann, R., Bucher, P., 1998. The discoidin domain family revisited: new members from prokaryotes and a homologybased fold prediction. Protein Sci. 7, 1626–1631.
- Bech-Hansen, N.T., Naylor, M.J., Maybaum, T.A., Pearce, W.G., Koop, B., Fishman, G.A., Mets, M., Musarella, M.A., Boycott, K.M., 1998. Loss-of-function mutations in a calcium-channel alpha1-subunit gene in Xp11.23 cause incomplete X-linked congenital stationary night blindness. Nat. Genet. 19, 264–267.
- Berger, W., Meindl, A., van de Pol, T.J., Cremers, F.P., Ropers, H.H., Doerner, C., Monaco, A., Bergen, A.A., Lebo, R., Warburg, M., et al., 1992. Isolation of a candidate gene for Norrie disease by positional cloning. Nat. Genet. 1, 199–203.
- Blackshaw, S., Fraioli, R.E., Furukawa, T., Cepko, C.L., 2001. Comprehensive analysis of photoreceptor gene expression and the identification of candidate retinal disease genes. Cell 107, 579–589.
- Blanco, G., Mercer, R.W., 1998. Isozymes of the Na-K-ATPase: heterogeneity in structure, diversity in function. Am. J. Physiol. 275, F633–F650.
- Blobel, G., Dobberstein, B., 1975. Transfer of proteins across membranes. I. Presence of proteolytically processed and unprocessed nascent immunoglobulin light chains on membrane-bound ribosomes of murine myeloma. J. Cell Biol. 67, 835–851.
- Boye, S.E., Boye, S.L., Pang, J., Ryals, R., Everhart, D., Umino, Y., Neeley, A.W., Besharse, J., Barlow, R., Hauswirth, W.W., 2010. Functional and behavioral restoration of vision by gene therapy in the guanylate cyclase-1 (GC1) knockout mouse. PLoS One 5, e11306.
- Boye, S.L., Conlon, T., Erger, K., Ryals, R., Neeley, A., Cossette, T., Pang, J., Dyka, F.M., Hauswirth, W.W., Boye, S.E., 2011. Long-term preservation of cone photoreceptors and restoration of cone function by gene therapy in the guanylate cyclase-1 knockout (GC1KO) mouse. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 52, 7098–7108.
- Bradshaw, K., Allen, L., Trump, D., Hardcastle, A., George, N., Moore, A., 2004. A comparison of ERG abnormalities in XLRS and XLCSNB. Doc. Ophthalmol. 108, 135–145.
- Brasil, O.F., da Cunha, A.L., de Castro, M.B., Japiassu, R.M., 2011. Macular hole secondary to X-linked juvenile retinoschisis. Ophthalmic Surg. Lasers Imaging 42 Online, e4–5.
- Carafoli, F., Bihan, D., Stathopoulos, S., Konitsiotis, A.D., Kvansakul, M., Farndale, R.W., Leitinger, B., Hohenester, E., 2009. Crystallographic insight into collagen recognition by discoidin domain receptor 2. Structure 17, 1573–1581.

- Carty, M., Goodbody, R., Schroder, M., Stack, J., Moynagh, P.N., Bowie, A.G., 2006. The human adaptor SARM negatively regulates adaptor protein TRIF-dependent Toll-like receptor signaling. Nat. Immunol. 7, 1074–1081.
- Chan, W.M., Choy, K.W., Wang, J., Lam, D.S., Yip, W.W., Fu, W., Pang, C.P., 2004. Two cases of X-linked juvenile retinoschisis with different optical coherence tomography findings and RS1 gene mutations. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol. 32, 429–432.
- Chen, Z.Y., Hendriks, R.W., Jobling, M.A., Powell, J.F., Breakefield, X.O., Sims, K.B., Craig, I.W., 1992. Isolation and characterization of a candidate gene for Norrie disease. Nat. Genet. 1, 204–208.
- Chen, S., Wang, Q.L., Nie, Z., Sun, H., Lennon, G., Copeland, N.G., Gilbert, D.J., Jenkins, N.A., Zack, D.J., 1997. Crx, a novel Otx-like paired-homeodomain protein, binds to and transactivates photoreceptor cell-specific genes. Neuron 19, 1017–1030.
- Chen, F.K., McAllister, I.L., Chelva, E.S., 2006. Thirteen-year follow up of isolated foveal retinoschisis in a 24-year-old woman. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol. 34, 600–605.
- Chen, C.Y., Lin, C.W., Chang, C.Y., Jiang, S.T., Hsueh, Y.P., 2011. Sarm1, a negative regulator of innate immunity, interacts with syndecan-2 and regulates neuronal morphology. J. Cell Biol. 193, 769–784.
- Cheng, H., Khanna, H., Oh, E.C., Hicks, D., Mitton, K.P., Swaroop, A., 2004. Photoreceptor-specific nuclear receptor NR2E3 functions as a transcriptional activator in rod photoreceptors. Hum. Mol. Genet. 13, 1563–1575.
- Cibis, P.A., 1965. Retinoshchisis-retinal cysts. Trans. Am. Ophthalmol. Soc. 63, 417–453.
- Cideciyan, A.V., Aleman, T.S., Boye, S.L., Schwartz, S.B., Kaushal, S., Roman, A.J., Pang, J.J., Sumaroka, A., Windsor, E.A., Wilson, J.M., et al., 2008. Human gene therapy for RPE65 isomerase deficiency activates the retinoid cycle of vision but with slow rod kinetics. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105, 15112–15117.
- Condon, G.P., Brownstein, S., Wang, N.S., Kearns, J.A., Ewing, C.C., 1986. Congenital hereditary (juvenile X-linked) retinoschisis. Histopathologic and ultrastructural findings in three eyes. Arch. Ophthalmol. 104, 576–583.
- Corbo, J.C., Myers, C.A., Lawrence, K.A., Jadhav, A.P., Cepko, C.L., 2007. A typology of photoreceptor gene expression patterns in the mouse. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104, 12069–12074.
- Curat, C.A., Eck, M., Dervillez, X., Vogel, W.F., 2001. Mapping of epitopes in discoidin domain receptor 1 critical for collagen binding. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 45952–45958.
- Dhingra, S., Patel, C.K., 2010. Diagnosis and pathogenesis of congenital X-linked retinoschisis with optical coherence tomography. J. Pediatr. Ophthalmol. Strabismus 47, 105–107.
- Dinculescu, A., Glushakova, L., Min, S.H., Hauswirth, W.W., 2005. Adeno-associated virus-vectored gene therapy for retinal disease. Hum. Gene Ther. 16, 649–663.
- Dyka, F.M., Molday, R.S., 2007. Coexpression and interaction of wild-type and missense RS1 mutants associated with X-linked retinoschisis: its relevance to gene therapy. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 48, 2491–2497.
- Dyka, F.M., Wu, W.W., Pfeifer, T.A., Molday, L.L., Grigliatti, T.A., Molday, R.S., 2008. Characterization and purification of the discoidin domain-containing protein retinoschisin and its interaction with galactose. Biochemistry 47, 9098–9106.
- Eksandh, L.C., Ponjavic, V., Ayyagari, R., Bingham, E.L., Hiriyanna, K.T., Andreasson, S., Ehinger, B., Sieving, P.A., 2000. Phenotypic expression of juvenile X-linked retinoschisis in Swedish families with different mutations in the XLRS1 gene. Arch. Ophthalmol. 118, 1098–1104.
- Eksandh, L.C., Andreasson, S., Abrahamson, M., 2005. Juvenile X-linked reinoschisis with normal scotipic b-wave in the electroretinogram at an early stage of the disease. Ophthalmic Genet. 118, 1098–1104.
- Ellgaard, L., Molinari, M., Helenius, A., 1999. Setting the standards: quality control in the secretory pathway. Science 286, 1882–1888.
- Ensslin, M.A., Shur, B.D., 2003. Identification of mouse sperm SED1, a bimotif EGF repeat and discoidin-domain protein involved in sperm-egg binding. Cell 114, 405–417.
- Eriksson, U., Larsson, E., Holmstrom, G., 2004. Optical coherence tomography in the diagnosis of juvenile X-linked retinoschisis. Acta Ophthalmol. Scand. 82, 218–223.
- Ferrone, P.J., Trese, M.T., Lewis, H., 1997. Vitreoretinal surgery for complications of congenital retinoschisis. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 123, 742–747.
- Folmer, D.E., Elferink, R.P., Paulusma, C.C., 2009. P4 ATPases lipid flippases and their role in disease. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1791, 628–635.
- Forsius, H., Eriksson, A., Vainio-Mattila, B., 1963. Sex-related hereditary retinoschisis in 2 families in Finland. Klin. Monbl. Augenheilkd. 143, 806–816.
- Fraternali, F., Cavallo, L., Musco, G., 2003. Effects of pathological mutations on the stability of a conserved amino acid triad in retinoschisin. FEBS Lett. 544, 21–26.
- Friedrich, U., Stohr, H., Hilfinger, D., Loenhardt, T., Schachner, M., Langmann, T., Weber, B.H., 2011. The Na/K-ATPase is obligatory for membrane anchorage of retinoschisin, the protein involved in the pathogenesis of X-linked juvenile retinoschisis. Hum. Mol. Genet. 20, 1132–1142.
- Fuentes-Prior, P., Fujikawa, K., Pratt, K.P., 2002. New insights into binding interfaces of coagulation factors V and VIII and their homologues lessons from high resolution crystal structures. Curr. Protein Pept. Sci. 3, 313–339.
- Furukawa, T., Morrow, E.M., Li, T., Davis, F.C., Cepko, C.L., 1999. Retinopathy and attenuated circadian entrainment in Crx-deficient mice. Nat. Genet. 23, 466–470.
- Gal, A., Wienker, T.F., Davies, K., Pearson, P.L., Kunkel, L.M., Latt, S.A., Willard, H.F., Ropers, H.H., 1985. Further linkage studies between retinoschisis and cloned DNA sequences from distal Xp. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 40, 634.

- Gass, J.D., 1999. Muller cell cone, an overlooked part of the anatomy of the fovea centralis: hypotheses concerning its role in the pathogenesis of macular hole and foveomacualr retinoschisis. Arch. Ophthalmol. 117, 821–823.
- Gehrig, A., Weber, B.H., Lorenz, B., Andrassi, M., 1999a. First molecular evidence for a de novo mutation in RS1 (XLRS1) associated with X linked juvenile retinoschisis. J. Med. Genet. 36, 932–934.
- Gehrig, A.E., Warneke-Wittstock, R., Sauer, C.G., Weber, B.H., 1999b. Isolation and characterization of the murine X-linked juvenile retinoschisis (Rs1h) gene. Mamm. Genome 10, 303–307.
- Genead, M.A., Fishman, G.A., Walia, S., 2010. Efficacy of sustained topical dorzolamide therapy for cystic macular lesions in patients with X-linked retinoschisis. Arch. Ophthalmol. 128, 190–197.
- George, N.D., Yates, J.R., Moore, A.T., 1995. X linked retinoschisis. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 79, 697–702.
- George, N.D., Yates, J.R., Moore, A.T., 1996. Clinical features in affected males with Xlinked retinoschisis. Arch. Ophthalmol. 114, 274–280.
- Gerth, C., Zawadzki, R.J., Werner, J.S., Heon, E., 2008. Retinal morphological changes of patients with X-linked retinoschisis evaluated by Fourier-domain optical coherence tomography. Arch. Ophthalmol. 126, 807–811.
- Ghajarnia, M., Gorin, M.B., 2007. Acetazolamide in the treatment of X-linked retinoschisis maculopathy. Arch. Ophthalmol. 125, 571–573.
- Gierasch, L.M., 1989. Signal sequences. Biochemistry 28, 923-930.
- Gieser, E.P., Falls, H.F., 1961. Hereditary retinoschisis. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 51, 1193–1200.
- Gleghorn, L.J., Trump, D., Bulleid, N.J., 2010. Wild-type and missense mutants of retinoschisin co-assemble resulting in either intracellular retention or incorrect assembly of the functionally active octamer. Biochem. J. 425, 275–283.
- Gloor, S., Antonicek, H., Sweadner, K.J., Pagliusi, S., Frank, R., Moos, M., Schachner, M., 1990. The adhesion molecule on glia (AMOG) is a homologue of the beta subunit of the Na, K-ATPase. J. Cell Biol. 110, 165–174.
- Grayson, C., Reid, S.N., Ellis, J.A., Rutherford, A., Sowden, J.C., Yates, J.R., Farber, D.B., Trump, D., 2000. Retinoschisin, the X-linked retinoschisis protein, is a secreted photoreceptor protein, and is expressed and released by Weri-Rb1 cells. Hum. Mol. Genet. 9, 1873–1879.
- Gregori, N.Z., Berrocal, A.M., Gregori, G., Murray, T.G., Knighton, R.W., Flynn Jr., H.W., Dubovy, S., Puliafito, C.A., Rosenfeld, P.J., 2009. Macular spectral-domain optical coherence tomography in patients with X linked retinoschisis. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 93, 373–378.
- Gu, C., Rodriguez, E.R., Reimert, D.V., Shu, T., Fritzsch, B., Richards, L.J., Kolodkin, A.L., Ginty, D.D., 2003. Neuropilin-1 conveys semaphorin and VEGF signaling during neural and cardiovascular development. Dev. Cell 5, 45–57.
- Haas, J., 1898. Ueber das Zusammenvorkommen von Veraenderungen der Retina und Choroidea. Arch. Augenheilkd. 37, 343–348.
- Haider, N.B., Jacobson, S.G., Cideciyan, A.V., Swiderski, R., Streb, L.M., Searby, C., Beck, G., Hockey, R., Hanna, D.B., Gorman, S., et al., 2000. Mutation of a nuclear receptor gene, NR2E3, causes enhanced S cone syndrome, a disorder of retinal cell fate. Nat. Genet. 24, 127–131.
- Haider, N.B., Naggert, J.K., Nishina, P.M., 2001. Excess cone cell proliferation due to lack of a functional NR2E3 causes retinal dysplasia and degeneration in rd7/rd7 mice. Hum. Mol. Genet. 10, 1619–1626.
- Hayashi, T., Omoto, S., Takeuchi, T., Kozaki, K., Ueoka, Y., Kitahara, K., 2004. Four Japanese male patients with juvenile retinoschisis: only three have mutations in the RS1 gene. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 138, 788–798.
- Hewitt, A.W., FitzGerald, L.M., Scotter, L.W., Mulhall, L.E., McKay, J.D., Mackey, D.A., 2005. Genotypic and phenotypic spectrum of X-linked retinoschisis in Australia. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol. 33, 233–239.
- Hiriyanna, K.T., Bingham, E.L., Yashar, B.M., Ayyagari, R., Fishman, G., Small, K.W., Weinberg, D.V., Weleber, R.G., Lewis, R.A., Andreasson, S., et al., 1999. Novel mutations in XLRS1 causing retinoschisis, including first evidence of putative leader sequence change. Hum. Mutat. 14, 423–427.
- Hosey, M.M., Chien, A.J., Puri, T.S., 1996. Structure and regulation of L-type calcium channels a current assessment of the properties and roles of channel subunits. Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 6, 265–273.
- Hotta, Y., Nakamura, M., Okamoto, Y., Nomura, R., Terasaki, H., Miyake, Y., 2001. Different mutation of the XLRS1 gene causes juvenile retinoschisis with retinal white flecks. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 85, 238–239.
- Hsiau, T.H., Diaconu, C., Myers, C.A., Lee, J., Cepko, C.L., Corbo, J.C., 2007. The cisregulatory logic of the mammalian photoreceptor transcriptional network. PLoS One 2, e643.
- Huopaniemi, L., Rantala, A., Tahvanainen, E., de la Chapelle, A., Alitalo, T., 1997. Linkage disequilibrium and physical mapping of X-linked juvenile retinoschisis. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 60, 1139–1149.
- Iannaccone, A., Mura, M., Dyka, F.M., Ciccarelli, M.L., Yashar, B.M., Ayyagari, R., Jablonski, M.M., Molday, R.S., 2006. An unusual X-linked retinoschisis phenotype and biochemical characterization of the W112C RS1 mutation. Vis. Res. 46, 3845–3852.
- Ikeda, F., Iida, T., Kishi, S., 2008. Resolution of retinoschisis after vitreous surgery in X-linked retinoschisis. Ophthalmology 115, 718–722. e711.
- Ito, N., Phillips, S.E., Yadav, K.D., Knowles, P.F., 1994. Crystal structure of a free radical enzyme, galactose oxidase. J. Mol. Biol. 238, 794–814.
- Jablonski, M.M., Dalke, C., Wang, X., Lu, L., Manly, K.F., Pretsch, W., Favor, J., Pardue, M.T., Rinchik, E.M., Williams, R.W., et al., 2005. An ENU-induced mutation in Rs1h causes disruption of retinal structure and function. Mol. Vis. 11, 569–581.
- Jacobson, S.G., Cideciyan, A.V., Ratnakaram, R., Heon, E., Schwartz, S.B., Roman, A.J., Peden, M.C., Aleman, T.S., Boye, S.L., Sumaroka, A., et al., 2011. Gene therapy for

Leber congenital amaurosis caused by RPE65 mutations: safety and efficacy in 15 children and adults followed up to 3 years. Arch. Ophthalmol. 2011 Sep 12 (Epub ahead of print).

- Janssen, A., Min, S.H., Molday, L.L., Tanimoto, N., Seeliger, M.W., Hauswirth, W.W., Molday, R.S., Weber, B.H., 2008. Effect of late-stage therapy on disease progression in AAV-mediated rescue of photoreceptor cells in the retinoschisindeficient mouse. Mol. Ther. 16, 1010–1017.
- Jorgensen, P.L., Hakansson, K.O., Karlish, S.J., 2003. Structure and mechanism of Na, K-ATPase: functional sites and their interactions. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 65, 817–849.
- Kaplan, J.H., 2002. Biochemistry of Na, K-ATPase. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 71, 511–535. Karpe, G., 1945. The basis of clinical electroretinography. Acta Ophthalmol. 24 (Suppl.), 1–118.
- Kellner, U., Brummer, S., Foerster, M.H., Wessing, A., 1990. X-linked congenital retinoschisis. Graefes Arch. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol. 228, 432–437.
- Khan, N.W., Jamison, J.A., Kemp, J.A., Sieving, P.A., 2001. Analysis of photoreceptor function and inner retinal activity in juvenile X-linked retinoschisis. Vis. Res. 41, 3931–3942.
- Khandhadia, S., Trump, D., Menon, G., Lotery, A.J., 2011. X-linked retinoschisis maculopathy treated with topical dorzolamide, and relationship to genotype. Eye (Lond) 25, 922–928.
- Kiedzierska, A., Smietana, K., Czepczynska, H., Otlewski, J., 2007. Structural similarities and functional diversity of eukaryotic discoidin-like domains. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1774, 1069–1078.
- Kim, L.S., Seiple, W., Fishman, G.A., Szlyk, J.P., 2007. Multifocal ERG findings in carriers of X-linked retinoschisis. Doc. Ophthalmol. 114, 21–26.
- Kjellstrom, S., Bush, R.A., Zeng, Y., Takada, Y., Sieving, P.A., 2007. Retinoschisin gene therapy and natural history in the Rs1h-KO mouse: long-term rescue from retinal degeneration. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 48, 3837–3845.
- Kjellstrom, S., Vijayasarathy, C., Ponjavic, V., Sieving, P.A., Andreasson, S., 2010. Long-term 12 year follow-up of X-linked congenital retinoschisis. Ophthalmic Genet. 31, 114–125.
- Koh, A.H., Hogg, C.R., Holder, G.E., 2001. The incidence of negative ERG in clinical practice. Doc. Ophthalmol. 102, 19–30.
- Kong, J., Kim, S.R., Binley, K., Pata, I., Doi, K., Mannik, J., Zernant-Rajang, J., Kan, O., Iqball, S., Naylor, S., et al., 2008. Correction of the disease phenotype in the mouse model of Stargardt disease by lentiviral gene therapy. Gene Ther. 15, 1311–1320.
- Kotova, S., Vijayasarathy, C., Dimitriadis, E.K., Ikonomou, L., Jaffe, H., Sieving, P.A., 2010. Retinoschisin (RS1) interacts with negatively charged lipid bilayers in the presence of Ca2+: an atomic force microscopy study. Biochemistry 49, 7023–7032.
- Kraus, D., Karlstetter, M., Walczak, Y., Hilfinger, D., Langmann, T., Weber, B.H., 2011. Retinal expression of the X-linked juvenile retinoschisis (RS1) gene is controlled by an upstream CpG island and two opposing CRX-bound regions. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1809, 245–254.
- Langmann, T., Lai, C.C., Weigelt, K., Tam, B.M., Warneke-Wittstock, R., Moritz, O.L., Weber, B.H., 2008. CRX controls retinal expression of the X-linked juvenile retinoschisis (RS1) gene. Nucleic Acids Res. 36, 6523–6534.
- Lee, C.C., Kreusch, A., McMullan, D., Ng, K., Spraggon, G., 2003. Crystal structure of the human neuropilin-1 b1 domain. Structure 11, 99–108.
- Lee, J.J., Kim, J.H., Kim, S.Y., Park, S.S., Yu, Y.S., 2009. Infantile vitreous hemorrhage as the initial presentation of X-linked juvenile retinoschisis. Korean J. Ophthalmol. 23, 118–120.
- Lesch, B., Szabo, V., Kanya, M., Somfai, G.M., Vamos, R., Varsanyi, B., Pamer, Z., Knezy, K., Salacz, G., Janaky, M., et al., 2008. Clinical and genetic findings in Hungarian patients with X-linked juvenile retinoschisis. Mol. Vis. 14, 2321–2332.
- Lewis, R.A., Lee, G.B., Martonyi, C.L., Barnett, J.M., Falls, H.F., 1977. Familial foveal retinoschisis. Arch. Ophthalmol. 95, 1190–1196.
- Lin, L., Huai, Q., Huang, M., Furie, B., Furie, B.C., 2007. Crystal structure of the bovine lactadherin C2 domain, a membrane binding motif, shows similarity to the C2 domains of factor V and factor VIII. J. Mol. Biol. 371, 717–724.
- Liu, M.M., Tuo, J., Chan, C.C., 2010. Gene therapy for ocular diseases. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 95, 604–612.
- Livesey, F.J., Furukawa, T., Steffen, M.A., Church, G.M., Cepko, C.L., 2000. Microarray analysis of the transcriptional network controlled by the photoreceptor homeobox gene Crx. Curr. Biol. 10, 301–310.
- Macedo-Ribeiro, S., Bode, W., Huber, R., Quinn-Allen, M.A., Kim, S.W., Ortel, T.L., Bourenkov, G.P., Bartunik, H.D., Stubbs, M.T., Kane, W.H., et al., 1999. Crystal structures of the membrane-binding C2 domain of human coagulation factor V. Nature 402, 434–439.
- Maguire, A.M., Simonelli, F., Pierce, E.A., Pugh Jr., E.N., Mingozzi, F., Bennicelli, J., Banfi, S., Marshall, K.A., Testa, F., Surace, E.M., et al., 2008. Safety and efficacy of gene transfer for Leber's congenital amaurosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 358, 2240–2248.
- Maguire, A.M., High, K.A., Auricchio, A., Wright, J.F., Pierce, E.A., Testa, F., Mingozzi, F., Bennicelli, J.L., Ying, G.S., Rossi, S., et al., 2009. Age-dependent effects of RPE65 gene therapy for Leber's congenital amaurosis: a phase 1 doseescalation trial. Lancet 374, 1597–1605.
- Magyar, J.P., Bartsch, U., Wang, Z.Q., Howells, N., Aguzzi, A., Wagner, E.F., Schachner, M., 1994. Degeneration of neural cells in the central nervous system of mice deficient in the gene for the adhesion molecule on Glia, the beta 2 subunit of murine Na, K-ATPase. J. Cell Biol. 127, 835–845.
- Manschot, W.A., 1972. Pathology of hereditary juvenile retinoschisis. Arch. Ophthalmol. 88, 131–138.

- Martoglio, B., Dobberstein, B., 1998. Signal sequences: more than just greasy peptides. Trends Cell Biol. 8, 410–415.
- Mathieu, S.V., Aragao, K.S., Imberty, A., Varrot, A., 2010. Discoidin I from Dictyostelium discoideum and interactions with oligosaccharides: specificity, affinity, crystal structures, and comparison with discoidin II. J. Mol. Biol. 400, 540–554.
- Mears, A.J., Kondo, M., Swain, P.K., Takada, Y., Bush, R.A., Saunders, T.L., Sieving, P.A., Swaroop, A., 2001. Nrl is required for rod photoreceptor development. Nat. Genet. 29, 447–452.
- Mendoza-Londono, R., Hiriyanna, K.T., Bingham, E.L., Rodriguez, F., Shastry, B.S., Rodriguez, A., Sieving, P.A., Tamayo, M.L., 1999. A Colombian family with Xlinked juvenile retinoschisis with three affected females finding of a frameshift mutation. Ophthalmic Genet. 20, 37–43.
- Menke, M.N., Feke, G.T., Hirose, T., 2011. Effect of aging on macular features of xlinked retinoschisis assessed with optical coherence tomography. Retina 31, 1186–1192.
- Miller, R.F., Dowling, J.E., 1970. Intracellular responses of the Muller (glial) cells of mudpuppy retina: their relation to b-wave of the electroretinogram. J. Neurophysiol. 33, 323–341.
- Min, S.H., Molday, L.L., Seeliger, M.W., Dinculescu, A., Timmers, A.M., Janssen, A., Tonagel, F., Tanimoto, N., Weber, B.H., Molday, R.S., et al., 2005. Prolonged recovery of retinal structure/function after gene therapy in an Rs1h-deficient mouse model of x-linked juvenile retinoschisis. Mol. Ther. 12, 644–651.
- Mink, M., Fogelgren, B., Olszewski, K., Maroy, P., Csiszar, K., 2001. A novel human gene (SARM) at chromosome 17q11 encodes a protein with a SAM motif and structural similarity to Armadillo/beta-catenin that is conserved in mouse, Drosophila, and Caenorhabditis elegans. Genomics 74, 234–244.
- Molday, R.S., 2007. Focus on molecules: retinoschisin (RS1). Exp. Eye Res. 84, 227-228.
- Molday, L.L., Hicks, D., Sauer, C.G., Weber, B.H., Molday, R.S., 2001. Expression of Xlinked retinoschisis protein RS1 in photoreceptor and bipolar cells. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 42, 816–825.
- Molday, L.L., Wu, W.W., Molday, R.S., 2007. Retinoschisin (RS1), the protein encoded by the X-linked retinoschisis gene, is anchored to the surface of retinal photoreceptor and bipolar cells through its interactions with a Na/K ATPase-SARM1 complex. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 32792–32801.
- Molthagen, M., Schachner, M., Bartsch, U., 1996. Apoptotic cell death of photoreceptor cells in mice deficient for the adhesion molecule on glia (AMOG, the beta 2- subunit of the Na, K-ATPase). J. Neurocytol. 25, 243–255.
- Mooy, C.M., Van Den Born, L.I., Baarsma, S., Paridaens, D.A., Kraaijenbrink, T., Bergen, A., Weber, B.H., 2002. Hereditary X-linked juvenile retinoschisis: a review of the role of Muller cells. Arch. Ophthalmol. 120, 979–984.
- Morgans, C.W., 2001. Localization of the alpha(1F) calcium channel subunit in the rat retina. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 42, 2414–2418.
- Morgans, C.W., Bayley, P.R., Oesch, N.W., Ren, G., Akileswaran, L., Taylor, W.R., 2005. Photoreceptor calcium channels: insight from night blindness. Vis. Neurosci. 22, 561–568.
- Muscat, S., Fahad, B., Parks, S., Keating, D., 2001. Optical coherence tomography and multifocal electroretinography of X-linked juvenile retinoschisis. Eye (Lond) 15, 796–799.
- Nakatsukasa, K., Brodsky, J.L., 2008. The recognition and retrotranslocation of misfolded proteins from the endoplasmic reticulum. Traffic 9, 861–870.
- Nikopoulos, K., Gilissen, C., Hoischen, A., van Nouhuys, C.E., Boonstra, F.N., Blokland, E.A., Arts, P., Wieskamp, N., Strom, T.M., Ayuso, C., et al., 2010. Nextgeneration sequencing of a 40 Mb linkage interval reveals TSPAN12 mutations in patients with familial exudative vitreoretinopathy. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 86, 240–247.
- O'Neill, L.A., Bowie, A.G., 2007. The family of five: TIR-domain-containing adaptors in toll-like receptor signalling. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 7, 353–364.
- Ortel, T.L., Devore-Carter, D., Quinn-Allen, M., Kane, W.H., 1992a. Deletion analysis of recombinant human factor V. Evidence for a phosphatidylserine binding site in the second C-type domain. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 4189–4198.
- Ortel, T.L., Quinn-Allen, M.A., Charles, L.A., Devore-Carter, D., Kane, W.H., 1992b. Characterization of an acquired inhibitor to coagulation factor V. Antibody binding to the second C-type domain of factor V inhibits the binding of factor V to phosphatidylserine and neutralizes procoagulant activity. J. Clin. Invest. 90, 2340–2347.
- Park, T.K., Wu, Z., Kjellstrom, S., Zeng, Y., Bush, R.A., Sieving, P.A., Colosi, P., 2009. Intravitreal delivery of AAV8 retinoschisin results in cell type-specific gene expression and retinal rescue in the Rs1-KO mouse. Gene Ther. 16, 916–926.
- Pawlyk, B.S., Smith, A.J., Buch, P.K., Adamian, M., Hong, D.H., Sandberg, M.A., Ali, R.R., Li, T., 2005. Gene replacement therapy rescues photoreceptor degeneration in a murine model of Leber congenital amaurosis lacking RPGRIP. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 46, 3039–3045.
- Perez Alvarez, M.J., Clement Fernandez, F., 2002. No X-chromosome linked juvenile foveal retinoschisis. Arch. Soc. Esp Oftalmol 77, 443–448.
- Phadke, S.R., Sharda, S., Urquhart, J., Jenkinson, E., Chawala, S., Trump, D., 2011. Report of two brothers with short stature, microcephaly, mental retardation, and retinoschisis-A new mental retardation syndrome? Am. J. Med. Genet. A 155A, 9–13.
- Piao, C.H., Kondo, M., Nakamura, M., Terasaki, H., Miyake, Y., 2003. Multifocal electroretinograms in X-linked retinoschisis. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 44, 4920–4930.
- Pimenides, D., George, N.D., Yates, J.R., Bradshaw, K., Roberts, S.A., Moore, A.T., Trump, D., 2005. X-linked retinoschisis: clinical phenotype and RS1 genotype in 86 UK patients. J. Med. Genet. 42, e35.

- Poole, S., Firtel, R.A., Lamar, E., Rowekamp, W., 1981. Sequence and expression of the discoidin I gene family in Dictyostelium discoideum. J. Mol. Biol. 153, 273–289.
- Prasad, A., Wagner, R., Bhagat, N., 2006. Vitreous hemorrhage as the initial manifestation of X-linked retinoschisis in a 9-month-old infant. J. Pediatr. Ophthalmol. Strabismus 43, 56–58.
- Pratt, K.P., Shen, B.W., Takeshima, K., Davie, E.W., Fujikawa, K., Stoddard, B.L., 1999. Structure of the C2 domain of human factor VIII at 1.5 A resolution. Nature 402, 439–442.
- Prenner, J.L., Capone Jr., A., Ciaccia, S., Takada, Y., Sieving, P.A., Trese, M.T., 2006. Congenital X-linked retinoschisis classification system. Retina 26, S61–S64.
- Raymond, A., Ensslin, M.A., Shur, B.D., 2009. SED1/MFG-E8: a bi-motif protein that orchestrates diverse cellular interactions. J. Cell Biochem. 106, 957–966.
- Reid, S.N., Akhmedov, N.B., Piriev, N.I., Kozak, C.A., Danciger, M., Farber, D.B., 1999. The mouse X-linked juvenile retinoschisis cDNA: expression in photoreceptors. Gene 227, 257–266.
- Reid, S.N., Yamashita, C., Farber, D.B., 2003. Retinoschisin, a photoreceptor-secreted protein, and its interaction with bipolar and muller cells. J. Neurosci. 23, 6030–6040.
- Renner, A.B., Kellner, U., Cropp, E., Foerster, M.H., 2006. Dysfunction of transmission in the inner retina: incidence and clinical causes of negative electroretinogram. Graefes Arch. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol. 244, 1467–1473.
- Renner, A.B., Kellner, U., Fiebig, B., Cropp, E., Foerster, M.H., Weber, B.H., 2008. ERG variability in X-linked congenital retinoschisis patients with mutations in the RS1 gene and the diagnostic importance of fundus autofluorescence and OCT. Doc. Ophthalmol. 116, 97–109.
- Riveiro-Alvarez, R., Trujillo-Tiebas, M.J., Gimenez-Pardo, A., Garcia-Hoyos, M., Lopez-Martinez, M.A., Aguirre-Lamban, J., Garcia-Sandoval, B., Vazquez-Fernandez del Pozo, S., Cantalapiedra, D., Avila-Fernandez, A., et al., 2009. Correlation of genetic and clinical findings in Spanish patients with X-linked juvenile retinoschisis. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 50, 4342–4350.
- Robitaille, J., MacDonald, M.L., Kaykas, A., Sheldahl, L.C., Zeisler, J., Dube, M.P., Zhang, L.H., Singaraja, R.R., Guernsey, D.L., Zheng, B., et al., 2002. Mutant frizzled-4 disrupts retinal angiogenesis in familial exudative vitreoretinopathy. Nat. Genet. 32, 326–330.
- Rodriguez, F.J., Rodriguez, A., Mendoza-Londono, R., Tamayo, M.L., 2005. X-linked retinoschisis in three females from the same family: a phenotype-genotype correlation. Retina 25, 69–74.
- Roesch, M.T., Ewing, C.C., Gibson, A.E., Weber, B.H., 1998. The natural history of Xlinked retinoschisis. Can. J. Ophthalmol. 33, 149–158.
- Rosenfeld, P.J., Flynn, H.W., McDonald, H.R., Rubsamen, P.E., Smiddy, W.E., Sipperley, J.O., Boniuk, I., Packer, A.J., 1998. Outcomes of vitreoretinal surgery in patients with X-linked retinoschisis. Ophthal. Surg. Lasers 29, 190–197.
- Saldana, M., Thompson, J., Monk, E., Trump, D., Long, V., Sheridan, E., 2007. X-linked retinoschisis in a female with a heterozygous RS1 missense mutation. Am. J. Med. Genet. A 143, 608–609.
- Saleheen, D., Ali, A., Khanum, S., Ozair, M.Z., Zaidi, M., Sethi, M.J., Khan, N., Frossard, P., 2008. Molecular analysis of the XLRS1 gene in 4 females affected with X-linked juvenile retinoschisis. Can. J. Ophthalmol. 43, 596–599.
- Sauer, C.G., Gehrig, A., Warneke-Wittstock, R., Marquardt, A., Ewing, C.C., Gibson, A., Lorenz, B., Jurklies, B., Weber, B.H., 1997. Positional cloning of the gene associated with X-linked juvenile retinoschisis. Nat. Genet. 17, 164–170.
- Sen, P., Roy, R., Maru, S., Ravi, P., 2010. Evaluation of focal retinal function using multifocal electroretinography in patients with X-linked retinoschisis. Can. J. Ophthalmol. 45, 509–513.
- Sergeev, Y.V., Caruso, R.C., Meltzer, M.R., Smaoui, N., MacDonald, I.M., Sieving, P.A., 2010. Molecular modeling of retinoschisin with functional analysis of pathogenic mutations from human X-linked retinoschisis. Hum. Mol. Genet. 19, 1302–1313.
- Shi, L., Jian, K., Ko, M.L., Trump, D., Ko, G.Y., 2009. Retinoschisin, a new binding partner for L-type voltage-gated calcium channels in the retina. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 3966–3975.
- Shinoda, K., Ishida, S., Oguchi, Y., Mashima, Y., 2000. Clinical characteristics of 14 japanese patients with X-linked juvenile retinoschisis associated with XLRS1 mutation. Ophthalmic Genet. 21, 171–180.
- Shukla, D., Naresh, K.B., Rajendran, A., Kim, R., 2006. Macular hole secondary to Xlinked retinoschisis. Eye (Lond) 20, 1459–1461.
- Shukla, D., Rajendran, A., Gibbs, D., Suganthalakshmi, B., Zhang, K., Sundaresan, P., 2007. Unusual manifestations of x-linked retinoschisis: clinical profile and diagnostic evaluation. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 144, 419–423.
- Sieving, P.A., 1998. Juvenile Retinoschisis Paper presented at: Genetic diseases of the eye. Sieving, P.A., Bingham, E.L., Kemp, J., Richards, J., Hiriyanna, K., 1999. Juvenile Xlinked retinoschisis from XLRS1 Arg213Trp mutation with preservation of the electroretinogram scotopic b-wave. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 128, 179–184.
- Simonelli, F., Cennamo, G., Ziviello, C., Testa, F., de Crecchio, G., Nesti, A., Manitto, M.P., Ciccodicola, A., Banfi, S., Brancato, R., et al., 2003. Clinical features of X linked juvenile retinoschisis associated with new mutations in the XLRS1 gene in Italian families. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 87, 1130–1134.
- Smith, A.J., Bainbridge, J.W., Ali, R.R., 2009. Prospects for retinal gene replacement therapy. Trends Genet. 25, 156–165.
- Sobaci, G., Erdem, U., Uysal, Y., Gundogan, F.C., Bayraktar, M.Z., 2007. Negative electroretinogram in the differential diagnosis of malingering of night blindness in the military. Mil Med. 172, 402–404.
- Sobrin, L., Berrocal, A.M., Murray, T.G., 2003. Retinal detachment 7 years after prophylactic schisis cavity excision in juvenile X-linked retinoschisis. Ophthalmic Surg. Lasers Imaging 34, 401–402.

- Sohn, E.H., Chen, F.K., Rubin, G.S., Moore, A.T., Webster, A.R., MacLaren, R.E., 2010. Macular function assessed by microperimetry in patients with enhanced S-cone syndrome. Ophthalmology 117, 1199–1206. e1191.
- Stanga, P.E., Chong, N.H., Reck, A.C., Hardcastle, A.J., Holder, G.E., 2001. Optical coherence tomography and electrophysiology in X-linked juvenile retinoschisis associated with a novel mutation in the XLRS1 gene. Retina 21, 78–80.
- Strom, T.M., Nyakatura, G., Apfelstedt-Sylla, E., Hellebrand, H., Lorenz, B., Weber, B.H., Wutz, K., Gutwillinger, N., Ruther, K., Drescher, B., et al., 1998. An Ltype calcium-channel gene mutated in incomplete X-linked congenital stationary night blindness. Nat. Genet. 19, 260–263.
- Takada, Y., Fariss, R.N., Tanikawa, A., Zeng, Y., Carper, D., Bush, R., Sieving, P.A., 2004. A retinal neuronal developmental wave of retinoschisin expression begins in ganglion cells during layer formation. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 45, 3302–3312.
- Takada, Y., Fariss, R.N., Muller, M., Bush, R.A., Rushing, E.J., Sieving, P.A., 2006. Retinoschisin expression and localization in rodent and human pineal and consequences of mouse RS1 gene knockout. Mol. Vis. 12, 1108–1116.
- Takada, Y., Vijayasarathy, C., Zeng, Y., Kjellstrom, S., Bush, R.A., Sieving, P.A., 2008. Synaptic pathology in retinoschisis knockout (Rs1-/y) mouse retina and modification by rAAV-Rs1 gene delivery. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 49, 3677–3686.
- Tantri, A., Vrabec, T.R., Cu-Unjieng, A., Frost, A., Annesley Jr., W.H., Donoso, L.A., 2004. X-linked retinoschisis: a clinical and molecular genetic review. Surv. Ophthalmol. 49, 214–230.
- Thobani, A., Fishman, G.A., 2010. The use of carbonic anhydrase inhibitors in the retreatment of cystic macular lesions in retinitis pigmentosa and X-linked retinoschisis. Retina 31, 312–315.
- Toomes, C., Bottomley, H.M., Jackson, R.M., Towns, K.V., Scott, S., Mackey, D.A., Craig, J.E., Jiang, L., Yang, Z., Trembath, R., et al., 2004. Mutations in LRP5 or FZD4 underlie the common familial exudative vitreoretinopathy locus on chromosome 11q. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 74, 721–730.
- Trese, M.T., Ferrone, P.J., 1995. The role of inner wall retinectomy in the management of juvenile retinoschisis. Graefes Arch. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol. 233, 706–708.
- Urrets-Zavalia, J.A., Venturino, J.P., Mercado, J., Urrets-Zavalia, E.A., 2007. Macular and extramacular optical coherence tomography findings in X-linked retinoschisis. Ophthalmic Surg. Lasers Imaging 38, 417–422.
- Vainio-Mattila, B., Eriksson, A.W., Forsius, H., 1969. X-chromosomal recessive retinoschisis in the Region of Pori. An ophthalmo-genetical analysis of 103 cases. Acta Ophthalmol. (Copenh) 47, 1135–1148.
- Vander Kooi, C.W., Jusino, M.A., Perman, B., Neau, D.B., Bellamy, H.D., Leahy, D.J., 2007. Structural basis for ligand and heparin binding to neuropilin B domains. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104, 6152–6157.
- Vijayasarathy, C., Gawinowicz, M.A., Zeng, Y., Takada, Y., Bush, R.A., Sieving, P.A., 2006. Identification and characterization of two mature isoforms of retinoschisin in murine retina. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 349, 99–105.
- Vijayasarathy, C., Takada, Y., Zeng, Y., Bush, R.A., Sieving, P.A., 2007. Retinoschisin is a peripheral membrane protein with affinity for anionic phospholipids and affected by divalent cations. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 48, 991–1000.
- Vijayasarathy, C., Sui, R., Zeng, Y., Yang, G., Xu, F., Caruso, R.C., Lewis, R.A., Ziccardi, L., Sieving, P.A., 2010. Molecular mechanisms leading to null-protein product from retinoschisin (RS1) signal-sequence mutants in X-linked retinoschisis (XLRS) disease. Hum. Mutat. 31, 1251–1260.
- Vincent, A., Shetty, R., Yadav, N.K., Shetty, B.K., 2009. Foveal schisis with Mizuo phenomenon: etio-pathogenesis of tapetal reflex in X-linked retinoschisis. Eye (Lond) 23, 1240–1241.
- Vogel, W., Gish, G.D., Alves, F., Pawson, T., 1997. The discoidin domain receptor tyrosine kinases are activated by collagen. Mol. Cell 1, 13–23.
- Vogel, W.F., Abdulhussein, R., Ford, C.E., 2006. Sensing extracellular matrix: an update on discoidin domain receptor function. Cell Signal. 18, 1108–1116.
- Van de Vosse, E., Bergen, A.A., Meershoek, E.J., Oosterwijk, J.C., Gregory, S., Bakker, B., Weissenbach, J., Coffey, A.J., van Ommen, G.J., Den Dunnen, J.T., 1996. An Xp22.1–p22.2 YAC contig encompassing the disease loci for RS, KFSD, CLS, HYP and RP15: refined localization of RS. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 4, 101–104.
- Walia, S., Fishman, G.A., Molday, R.S., Dyka, F.M., Kumar, N.M., Ehlinger, M.A., Stone, E.M., 2009. Relation of response to treatment with dorzolamide in Xlinked retinoschisis to the mechanism of functional loss in retinoschisin. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 147, 111–115. e111.
- Walter, P., Johnson, A.E., 1994. Signal sequence recognition and protein targeting to the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 10, 87–119.
- Wang, T., Waters, C.T., Rothman, A.M., Jakins, T.J., Romisch, K., Trump, D., 2002. Intracellular retention of mutant retinoschisin is the pathological mechanism underlying X-linked retinoschisis. Hum. Mol. Genet. 11, 3097–3105.
- Wang, T., Zhou, A., Waters, C.T., O'Connor, E., Read, R.J., Trump, D., 2006. Molecular pathology of X linked retinoschisis: mutations interfere with retinoschisin secretion and oligomerisation. Br. J. Ophthalmol. 90, 81–86.
- Warneke-Wittstock, R., Marquardt, A., Gehrig, A., Sauer, C.G., Gessler, M., Weber, B.H., 1998. Transcript map of a 900-kb genomic region in Xp22.1-p22.2: identification of 12 novel genes. Genomics 51, 59–67.
- Weber, B.H., Kellner, U., 2007. X-linked juvenile retinoschisis. In: Tombran-Tink, Joyce, Barnstable, Colin J. (Eds.), Ophthalmology Research: Retinal Degenerations: Biology, Diagnostics, and Therapeutics. Humana Press Inc, Totowa, New Jersey, pp. 119–135.
- Weber, B.H., Schrewe, H., Molday, L.L., Gehrig, A., White, K.L., Seeliger, M.W., Jaissle, G.B., Friedburg, C., Tamm, E., Molday, R.S., 2002. Inactivation of the murine X-linked juvenile retinoschisis gene, Rs1h, suggests a role of retinoschisin in retinal cell layer organization and synaptic structure. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99, 6222–6227.

- Weleber, R.G., Francis, P.J., 2006. Differential diagnosis of the electronegative electroretinogram. In: Heckenlively Jr., A.G. (Ed.), Principles and Practice of Clinical Electrophysiology of Vision. The MIT Press, Cambridge.
- Wetzel, R.K., Arystarkhova, E., Sweadner, K.J., 1999. Cellular and subcellular specification of Na, K-ATPase alpha and beta isoforms in the postnatal development of mouse retina. J. Neurosci. 19, 9878–9889.
- Wieacker, P., Wienker, T.F., Dallapiccola, B., Bender, K., Davies, K.E., Ropers, H.H., 1983. Linkage relationships between Retinoschisis, Xg, and a cloned DNA sequence from the distal short arm of the X chromosome. Hum. Genet. 64, 143–145.
- Wu, W.W., Molday, R.S., 2003. Defective discoidin domain structure, subunit assembly, and endoplasmic reticulum processing of retinoschisin are primary mechanisms responsible for X-linked retinoschisis. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 28139–28146.
- Wu, G., Cotlier, E., Brodie, S., 1985. A carrier state of X-linked juvenile retinoschisis. Ophthalmic Paediatr. Genet. 5, 13–17.
 Wu, W.W., Wong, J.P., Kast, J., Molday, R.S., 2005. RS1, a discoidin domain-containing
- Wu, W.W., Wong, J.P., Kast, J., Molday, R.S., 2005. RS1, a discoidin domain-containing retinal cell adhesion protein associated with X-linked retinoschisis, exists as a novel disulfide-linked octamer. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 10721–10730.
- Wu, W.C., Drenser, K.A., Capone, A., Williams, G.A., Trese, M.T., 2007. Plasmin enzyme-assisted vitreoretinal surgery in congenital X-linked retinoschisis: surgical techniques based on a new classification system. Retina 27, 1079–1085.

- Xu, J., Molday, L.L., Molday, R.S., Sarunic, M.V., 2009. In vivo imaging of the mouse model of X-linked juvenile retinoschisis with fourier domain optical coherence tomography. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 50, 2989–2993.
- Xu, F., Xiang, H., Jiang, R., Dong, F., Sui, R., 2011. Phenotypic expression of X-linked retinoschisis in Chinese families with mutations in the RS1 gene. Doc. Ophthalmol. 123, 21–27.
- Yanoff, M., Kertesz Rahn, E., Zimmerman, L.E., 1968. Histopathology of juvenile retinoschisis. Arch. Ophthalmol. 79, 49–53.
- Yoshida, S., Mears, A.J., Friedman, J.S., Carter, T., He, S., Oh, E., Jing, Y., Farjo, R., Fleury, G., Barlow, C., et al., 2004. Expression profiling of the developing and mature Nrl-/- mouse retina: identification of retinal disease candidates and transcriptional regulatory targets of Nrl. Hum. Mol. Genet. 13, 1487–1503.
- Yu, J., Ni, Y., Keane, P.A., Jiang, C., Wang, W., Xu, G., 2010. Foveomacular schisis in juvenile X-linked retinoschisis: an optical coherence tomography study. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 149, 973–978. e972.
- Zeng, Y., Takada, Y., Kjellstrom, S., Hiriyanna, K., Tanikawa, A., Wawrousek, E., Smaoui, N., Caruso, R., Bush, R.A., Sieving, P.A., 2004. RS-1 gene delivery to an adult Rs1h knockout mouse model restores ERG b-wave with reversal of the electronegative waveform of X-linked retinoschisis. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 45, 3279–3285.
- Zwaal, R.F., Comfurius, P., Bevers, E.M., 1998. Lipid-protein interactions in blood coagulation. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1376, 433–453.